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The NCHE is responsible for:

•	 	Promoting	a	structured	dialogue	between	all	Further	and	
Higher	education	institutions;

•	 	Supporting	 all	 stakeholders	 with	 research,	 data	 and	
information	about	the	sector;	

•	 	Maintaining	 a	 register	 of	 authorised	 and	 accredited	
institutions	and	programmes	available	in	Malta;

•	 	Developing	 a	 national	 strategy	 for	 Further	 and	 Higher	
education;

•	 	Preparing	key	performance	indicators	and	benchmarking	
the	sector	against	international	developments.

Our	Mission

“ to promote more and better  
further and higher education  
to empower all students  
with knowledge and skills  
for their future”
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Mr.	Jacques	Sciberras	
Chief	Executive	Officer

Mr. Sciberras graduated in Economics 
from the University of Malta and 
completed his M.Sc. in Economic and 
Social Policy analysis at the University 
of York in the U.K. Formerly an analyst 
within the Policy Unit of the Ministry of 
Education, Youth and Employment, and 
CEO of a number of start-up initiatives 
in the private sector. Resigned from the 
NCHE on completion of his three year 
term ending 31st December 2009. 

Ms.	Amanda	Borg	
Commission	Officer	

Ms. Borg is responsible for developing 
and maintaining a statistical framework 
for the sector. She is an M.A. graduate in 
Economics and holds a B.Com (Hons) 
in Economics from the University of 
Malta. Formerly a research officer at the 
Malta Council for Economic and Social 
Development for three years working on 
social welfare policies.

Ms.	Kirsten	Miller	
Commission	Officer	

Ms. Miller is responsible for funding policy 
research and analysis. She holds a B.Com 
(Hons) in Economics from the University 
of Malta and is currently completing 
an M.A. Formerly, Ms. Miller was an 
economic consultant within a local firm 
specialising in sourcing of grants and 
business development. 

NCHE	Secretariat
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Dr.	Matthew	Tabone
Commission	Officer

Dr. Tabone is responsible for international 
policy and relations. He is a Doctor of 
Laws graduate from the University of 
Malta. He has served as an executive 
committee member of the KSU (Kunsill 
Studenti Universitarji) before being 
elected to the executive committee of 
ESU (European Students’ Union) for 18 
months in Malta and Belgium. Resigned 
on 4th December 2009

Ms.	Tanya	Zammit	
Operations	Manager

Ms. Zammit is responsible for the 
operations of the secretariat. She is a 
graduate M.B.A. and holds a Diploma in 
Management Studies from the University 
of Malta. Formerly an officer within the 
office of the Permanent Secretary of 
the Ministry of Education, Youth and 
Employment for seven years. 

Ms.	Christine	Scholz
Commission	Officer

Ms Scholz is responsible for student 
affairs and related research. She holds 
a Magister Artium Degree in art history, 
political science and philosophy from the 
University of Berlin. Formerly, Ms. Scholz 
was Financial Officer with the European 
Students’ Union in Brussels, Belgium.

Dr.	Anne	Marie	Agius		

Commission	Officer	resigned	on	the	18th	of	June	2009	

Dr Agius was responsible for quality assurance. Shortly after being appointed within the Secretariat 

Dr. Agius decided to opt for an alternative career. Dr. Agius worked on the necessary due diligence 

systems in place for future licensing and quality assurance processes.

Ms.	Josette	Doublet	

Support	clerk	resigned	on	the	6th	November	2009	

Ms Doublet was appointed on a part-time basis within the Secretariat. She was responsible for 

supporting the day to day running of the office, undertaking clerical tasks under the direction of 

the operations manager.
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“ The NCHE continues to ensure the relevance and responsiveness of 
education to wider societal and economic realities.”

The	 year	 2009	 was	 an	 intensive	 and	
dynamic	 year	 for	 the	 Commission.	
During	 the	 year,	 NCHE	 launched	 its	
recommendations	 for	 a	 Further	 and	
Higher	 Education	 Strategy	 up	 to	
2020	 –	 a	 landmark	 document	 for	 all	
stakeholders.	This	saw	the	conclusion	
of	 a	 long	 process	 of	 consultations	 in	
the	 previous	 months,	 with	 seminars,	
one	to	one	consultation	meetings	and	
a	national	conference,	all	 leading	to	a	
vision	shared	by	all	 stakeholders.	The	
document	 outlines	 the	 importance	
of	 education	 in	Malta’s	 development	
strategy	 and	 the	 need	 for	 long-term	
planning.

The	 NCHE	 was	 also	 called	 to	 carry	
out	work	connected	with	the	Further	
and	 Higher	 Education	 Act	 .	 The	
anticipated	regulatory	 framework	will	
address	many	of	the	challenges	being	
encountered	 by	 stakeholders	 and	
open	new	opportunities	for	the	sector	
to	 develop	 further	 within	 a	 quality	
assurance	framework.

A	 number	 of	 thematic	 reviews	
commissioned	 by	 the	 Minister	 of	
Education	 during	 the	 year	 were	
also	 undertaken	 by	 NCHE.	 These	
included	 a	 review	 of	 all	 student	
support	 systems	 available	 in	 Malta	

and	 recommendations	 for	 their	
improvement;	 a	 review	 of	 existing	
support/scholarship	 schemes;	 and	 a	
report	 on	 the	 MATSEC	 examination	
system	

The	 NCHE	 also	 continued	 to	 track	
the	 development	 in	 the	 sector,	
to	 provide	 data	 collection	 tools	
and	 services	 for	 providers,	 to	 act	
as	 a	 single	 point	 of	 contact	 and	
to	 disseminate	 information,	 and	
to	 analyse	 performance	 in	 various	
dimensions	 in	 its	 annual	 statistics	
report.	 Student	 populations,	 areas	 of	
study,	 different	 levels	 of	 education,	

Chairman’s	Foreword
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available	 resources	 within	 teaching	
and	 research	 institutions,	 mapped	
against	 the	 Malta	 Qualifications	
Framework	 and	 ISCED	 qualification	
levels	 are	 essential	 for	 policy	 makers	
and	stakeholders	alike.	

The	 NCHE	 continues	 to	 ensure	 the	
relevance	 and	 responsiveness	 of	
education	 to	 wider	 societal	 and	
economic	 realities.	 The	 link	 between	
economic	 strategy	 and	 future	 skills	
requirements	 is	 critical.	 Towards	 this	
end,	 the	 NCHE	 undertook	 seminal	
work	 in	 2010,	 hosting	 one	 of	 the	
research	 workshops	 of	 CEDEFOP	 in	

Malta	last	October,	and	preparing	the	
necessary	platform	for	future	research	
to	 be	 undertaken	 through	 research	
projects	 on	 this	 area.	 Related	 to	 this	
will	 be	 the	 launch	 of	 a	 University-
Business	 Forum	 and	 EU	 funded	
research	on	skills	forecasting	in	2010.	

The	NCHE	is	positively	contributing	to	a	
more	dynamic	and	well	informed	policy	
making	 process	 and	we	will	 continue	
to	 work	 closely	 with	 all	 institutions,	
staff	 and	 student	 representatives,	 and	
all	 authorities	 concerned	 in	 particular	
the	Ministry	of	Education,	Employment	
and	the	Family.

I	 thank	 all	 stakeholders	 for	 their	
support,	all	Commission	members	for	
their	worthy	advice	and	the	Secretariat	
for	its	untiring	work	and	creativity.

Dr.	Philip	von	Brockdorff
Chairman

NCHE aNNual RepoRt 2009 

9



This	year	marked	the	third	anniversary	
of	 the	NCHE	 and	 its	 Secretariat	 since	
its	establishment	 in	2006.	During	this	
time,	NCHE	has	grown	 from	strength	
to	strength,	thanks	to	the	enthusiasm,	
positive	 thinking,	 worthy	 advice	 and	
willingness	 to	 collaborate	 of	 all	 the	
stakeholders	 in	 this	 sector.	 Student	
and	staff	representative	bodies,	heads	
of	 institutions,	 governing	 bodies,	
public	 agencies	 and	 policy	 makers	
have	all	shared	in	the	making	of	NCHE	
and	 its	 policy	 recommendations.	 For	
this	I	thank	you	all.	

The	Secretariat	has	fulfilled	an	intensive	
work	 plan	 during	 2009,	 undertaking	

various	 research	 initiatives	 and	
projects,	 together	 with	 a	 task	 to	
service	a	number	of	demanding	roles	
of	 country	 representation,	 data	 and	
statistics	collection	and	dissemination,	
and	 the	 organisation	 of	 a	 number	 of	
events.	 This	 report	 is	 witness	 to	 this	
work.

The	 Secretariat	 consists	 of	 the	 CEO,	
five	 Officers	 and	 the	 Operations	
manager.	 Two	 officers	 joined	 during	
2009,	 however	 one	 resigned	 soon	
after,	 and	 another	 officer	 resigned	
towards	 the	 end	 of	 the	 year.	 As	 is	
normal	during	any	start	up	phase,	new	
officers	 that	 join	 the	Secretariat	need	

time	to	understand	the	nature	of	this	
very	 specialised	 field	 of	 work	 and	 to	
acquire	 the	necessary	 skills	 to	deliver	
their	 function.	 All	 members	 of	 the	
Secretariat	 work	 hard,	 with	 integrity	
and	 a	 sense	 of	 duty	 shown	 in	 every	
aspect	of	their	work.	

The	 Secretariat	 undertook	 various	
research	 initiatives	 and	 formulated	
a	number	of	 reports	 during	 the	 year,	
including	the	Strategy	for	Further	and	
Higher	 Education	 2020,	 the	 statistical	
report	 on	 the	 state	 of	 further	 and	
higher	 education	 in	 Malta	 during	
2009,	 two	 review	 reports	 on	 student	
support	 schemes	 and	 the	 MASTEC	

Report	of	the	CEO

“ I hope that the work of the NCHE and its Secretariat continues to lead 
and spur positive transformational change in the future.”
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system,	and	the	organisation	of	three	
events	 related	 to	 the	 launch	 of	 the	
Strategy	and	the	hosting	of	CEDEFOP	
workshop	in	Malta.	

Work	 also	 continued	 on	 developing	
data	 collection	 systems	 in	
collaboration	 with	 both	 NSO	 and	
public	and	private	providers,	as	well	as	
new	work	started	to	provide	adequate	
information	to	students	on	the	various	
options	 available	 to	 continue	 their	
studies	(both	online	as	well	as	in	print	
format).	Much	more	work	 is	currently	
underway	 in	 preparation	 for	 another	
intensive	year	of	activities	in	2010.
The	Secretariat	is	providing	evidence-

based	research	and	findings	that	serve	
to	 inform	 the	 NCHE,	 Government	
through	 the	 Minister	 of	 Education,	
and	 all	 stakeholders.	 It	 remains	
committed	 to	 open	 dialogue	 with	
heads	 of	 institutions,	 student	 and	
staff	 representatives,	 political	 parties	
and	other	constituted	bodies	for	their	
valid	insight	and	recommendations.	

I	thank	all	officers	within	the	Secretariat	
for	their	dedication	to	their	work	and	
their	professional	contributions.	

The	road	ahead	in	education	is	full	of	
exciting	 opportunities	 to	 build	 and	
improve	what	we	have	 inherited	and	

surpass	what	we	ever	even	imagined.	
I	hope	that	the	work	of	the	NCHE	and	
its	 Secretariat	 continues	 to	 lead	 and	
spur	positive	transformational	change	
in	 the	 future.	 This	 is	 the	 key	 for	 our	
future	common	prosperity.	

Jacques	Sciberras
CEO
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The	Development	of	the	NCHE	

The	 Minister	 for	 Education,	 Hon.	
Louis	 Galea,	 appointed	 the	 first	
interim	 commission	 on	 the	 3rd	
February	 2006.	 The	 commission	
made	 recommendations	 on	 the	
terms	 of	 reference	 for	 a	 permanent	
NCHE	 on	 the	 7th	 April	 2006	 for	 the	
establishment	 of	 the	 NCHE	 as	 an	
advisory	 and	 consultative	 body.	
These	 proposals	 were	 incorporated	
in	the	Amendments	to	the	Education	
Act	 (ACT	No.	XIII	 of	 2006)	on	 the	4th	
August	2006.

The	 Prime	 Minister	 in	 consultation	
with	 the	 Minister	 for	 Education	
appointed	the	following	commissions:

•	 First	 Commission	 appointed	 on	
the	6th	September	2006;

•	 Second	 Commission	 appointed	
on	the	3rd	November	2008.

The	 NCHE	 consults	 and	 advises	
Government	 through	 the	 Minister	
responsible	 for	 Education,	 engages	
in	 a	 structured	 dialogue	 with	 all	
institutions,	 and	 informs	 the	 public	
on	 issues	 relating	 to	 a	 sustainable	
development	 of	 the	 further	 and	
higher	education	sectors.

Its	 main	 functions	 include	 the		
following:

•	 To	develop	a	forum	for	structured	
dialogue	amongst	all	stakeholders;

•	 To	 appoint	 an	 international	
advisory	panel	of	experts;

•	 To	collect	data,	statistics,	financial,	
audit	 and	 other	 reports	 of	 all	
further	 and	 higher	 education	
institutions;

•	 To	 maintain	 an	 updated	 Register	
of	 authorised	 and	 accredited	
institutions	 and	 programmes	
available	in	Malta;

•	 To	 publish	 the	 following	 annual	
reviews:	
-	 National	 Strategy	 for	 Further	

and	Higher	education;	
-	 Key	 Performance	 Indicators	

on	 the	 Further	 and	 Higher	
education	sectors	in	Malta;

-	 Benchmarking	 performance	
against	 International	
developments.

The	 NCHE	 Secretariat	 provides	
executive	 support	 for	 research,	
technical	 appraisal	 and	 reporting	
necessary	 for	 the	 Commission	 to	
perform	its	functions.	

The	 NCHE’s	 mission	 statement	 is	 “to	
promote	 more	 and	 better	 further	
and	higher	education	to	empower	all	
students	with	knowledge	and	skills	for	
the	future”.

The National Commission for Higher education (NCHe) was established in 2006 to consult and 
advise Government through the Minister responsible for education, to engage in a structured 
dialogue with all institutions, and inform the public on issues relating to sustainable development of 
the further and higher education sectors to meet the needs of society. 
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Malta’s	Progress	in	Further	and	
Higher	Education	During	2009

Public Expenditure on 
Further and Higher 
Education 
Public	 expenditure	 on	 further	 and	
higher	 education	 stood	 at	 €105	
million	 in	 2009,	 representing	 a	 share	
of	1.83%	of	forecasted	Gross	Domestic	
Product.	 This	 amounts	 to	 an	 increase	
of	 €17.5	 million	 (23%)	 over	 the	 total	
budget	 for	 2008.	 Further	 education	
was	allocated	€32.5	million,	increasing	
by	more	than	€6.5m	(25%)	from	2008,	
and	 higher	 education	 €49.,9	 million,	
increasing	 by	 €10m	 (25%)	 from	 2008.	
Student	 support	 includes	 stipends,	
scholarships	 and	 grants,	 had	 an	
allocation	 of	 €22.3	million,	 increasing	
by	€0.85m	(3.9%)	over	2008.	

Total	public	expenditure	on	further	and	
higher	education	is	projected	to	reach	
over	€121	million	 in	2010,	 implying	an	
increase	 of	 €15.8	 million	 (15%)	 over	
2009.	 This	 amounts	 to	 2.04%	 of	 the	
projected	Gross	Domestic	 Product	 (at	
current	market	prices).	

In	 2009,	 institutions	 worked	 on	
existing	projects	co-financed	through	
Structural	 and	 Cohesion	 Funds	 for	
2007-2013	and	continued	to	apply	for	
more	projects	under	this	programme	
and	 centralised	 funding.	 By	 2009	 a	
total	 of	 €21.5	million	was	 committed	
in	 projects	 for	 further	 education	 and	
€45.5	 million	 for	 higher	 education,	
under	 the	 European	 Social	 Fund	
(ESF)	 and	 the	 European	 Regional	
Development	Fund	(ERDF).

One	 important	 measure	 announced	
in	 the	 budget	 speech	 for	 the	
coming	 years,	 is	 the	 establishment	
of	 a	 trust	 fund	 for	 the	 University	 of	
Malta,	 which	 shall	 be	 used	 to	 offer	
fiscal	 incentives	 for	 those	 choosing	
to	 donate	 or	 sponsor	 research	
activity	 at	 the	 University.	 Apart	 from	
major	 infrastructural	 projects	 at	
the	 University	 of	 Malta	 and	 MCAST,	
growth	 in	 recurrent	 expenditure	 is	
mainly	 attributed	 to	 the	 collective	
agreement	 signed	 in	 early	 2009	
which	will	 see	 revised	salary	 rates	 for	
staff	 within	 the	 institutions	 over	 the	
coming	years.	

Further and Higher 
Education by Structure  
and Type
Further	 education	 includes	 all	 formal	
education	 of	 persons	 above	 the	
compulsory	 school	 age,	 leading	 to	
qualifications	 classified	 at	 NQF	 levels	
1	 to	 5.	 Post	 secondary	 public	 and	
private	colleges	and	institutes	provide	
general	and	vocational	education.	

General	 education	 at	 this	 level	 is	
provided	for	by	two	higher	secondary	
schools,	the	Junior	College,	two	church	
and	 two	 independent	 private	 sixth	
forms.	 The	 student	 population	 at	 the	
general	post-secondary	level	was	5,761	
in	2009.	There	were	an	additional	805	
students	 who	were	 pursuing	 general	
post	 secondary	 courses	 in	 other	
institutions	 identified	 through	 the	
Further	 and	 Higher	 Statistics	 Survey	
carried	out	by	the	NCHE	in	2009.

The	 Malta	 College	 of	 Arts,	 Science	
and	 Technology	 (MCAST),	 and	 the	
Institute	 for	 Tourism	 Studies	 (ITS)	 are	
two	 public	 colleges	 providing	 post-
secondary	 vocational	 education.	 In	
2009,	the	student	population	in	these	
two	 public	 colleges	was	 5,376.	 There	
were	 an	 additional	 892	 students	
who	 were	 pursuing	 vocational	 post	
secondary	 courses	 in	 other	 private	
institutions.

A	 total	 of	 12,661	 students	 were	
enrolled	in	further	education,	with	81%	
enrolled	 in	 the	 public	 sector.	 There	
were	a	 total	of	331	courses	provided,	
68%	 of	 which	 were	 provided	 by	 the	
public	sector1.

In	 addition,	 161	 short	 courses	 were	
provided	for	by	the	further	education	
sector	with	a	total	of	3,898	students.	

Higher	 education	 includes	 all	 formal	
education,	 training	 and	 research	 for	
persons	above	compulsory	school	age,	
leading	 to	 qualifications	 classified	 at	
NQF	 levels	 6-8.	 Tertiary	 education	 in	
Malta	 is	offered	predominantly	by	 the	
University	 of	 Malta,	 which	 provides	
services	 for	 95%2	 of	 the	 total	 tertiary	
level	student	population.	The	number	
of	 students	 enrolled	 at	 the	 University	
of	 Malta	 in	 2009	 was	 9,	 616	 with	 an	
additional	540	in	the	private	sector.	

Private	providers	provide	programmes	
of	 foreign	universities.	These	make	up	
9% 3	 of	 tertiary	 level	 programmes4,	
often	 in	 niche	 areas	 not	 provided	 for	
by	the	University	of	Malta.	

1 Data excludes short courses
2 NCHE Further and Higher Education Statistics 2009
3 NCHE Further and Higher Education Statistics 2009
4 The University of Malta offers 443 courses at programme level, and 924 courses at specialized level. By way of example, programme level would be the Bachelor of 

Commerce course and by specialized level would be the Bachelor of Commerce Accountancy and Economics or the Bachelor of Commerce Public Policy and Management. 
In this case, the 9% refers to tertiary level programmes at the programme level. NCHE Further and Higher Education Statistics 2009.
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Malta’s	Progress	in	Further	and	
Higher	Education	During	2009	(cont.)

Participation Rates in 
Further and Higher 
Education
The	 participation	 rate	 of	 17	 year	 old	
students	 in	 further	 education	 was	 at	
60%5	in	2009.	The	average	participation	
rate	 of	 17	 year	 olds	 in	 post	 secondary	
education	 during	 the	 last	 5	 years	 has	
been	 62%	 on	 average.	 No	 significant	
progress	 was	 made	 over	 this	 period.	
Small	 shifts	 in	 numbers	 may	 create	
between	 3-5%	 variance	 due	 to	 the	
distribution	 of	 ages	 around	 the	
reference	date	of	31st	March	used	in	the	
Survey.	 Targets	 recommended	 by	 the	

NCHE	for	reaching	85%	participation	of	
17	year	olds	by	2015	have	been	outlined	
in	 the	 Further	 and	 Higher	 Education	
Strategy	2020 6.

The	 student	 population	 at	 the	 general	
post-secondary	 level	 increased	 from	
5,339	in	2004	to	6,393	in	2009	whilst	that	
for	 vocational	 education	 increased	 from	
4,473	in	2004	to	6,268	in	2009.	In	addition,	
there	 were	 a	 total	 of	 3,898	 students	
pursuing	short	courses	in	2009.	

There	 were	 a	 total	 number	 of	 187 7	
students	from	the	ITS	and	9128	students	
from	 MCAST	 in	 2009,	 who	 obtained	 a	

post-secondary	qualification.	

The	 participation	 rate	 of	 19	 year	 old	
students	 in	 higher	 education	 was	
26%9	 in	 2009.	 This	 was	 relatively	
lower	 than	 the	 54%	 country	mean	 for	
OECD	 countries	 in	 2005.	 The	 student	
population	 at	 the	 University	 of	 Malta	
increased	 from	 9,245	 in	 2004	 to	 9,616	
in	2009.	The	total	number	of	graduates	
from	the	University	of	Malta	in	2009	was	
2,73410.	 University	 of	 Malta	 students	
attending	a	first	full	time	degree	course	
pay	no	 tuition	 fees	and	are	eligible	 for	
a	student	maintenance	grant	subject	to	
eligibility	criteria.	

TABLE 1 – STUDENT POPULATION AND PARTICIPATION RATE IN FURTHER AND HIGHER EDUCATION

5 NCHE Further and Higher Education Statistics 2009
6 NCHE Further and Higher Education Strategy 2020
7 Source (Registrar’s Office, Institute of Tourism Studies)
8 Source (Registrar’s Office, Malta College of Arts, Science and Technology)
9 NCHE Further and Higher Education Statistics 2009
10 Source (Registrar’s Office, University of Malta)

Source: 1994-2005 NSO Education Statistics; 2006-2007 NCHE provisional data; NCHE Further and Higher Education 
Statistics 2008 & 2009
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11  OECD Education at a Glance (page 344)
12  All EU countries prior to the accession of the 10 candidate countries on 1 May 2004, plus the four eastern European  

member countries of the OECD, namely Czech Republic, Hungary, Poland, Slovak Republic
13  Key data on Higher Education in Europe 2007 Edition, Eurydice (page 39) 
14  Data is up to the end of October 2008. Source (Malta Council for Science and Technology)
15  According to the definition of the European Council, lifelong learning includes “all learning activity undertaken throughout life, with the aim of improving knowledge, 

skills and competences within a personal, civic, social and/or employment-related perspective”. The “lifelong learning” structural indicator was developed to measure 
participation in training and further education. This indicator measures the proportion of the population aged between 25 and 64 that participate in training and further 
education activities. (Council Resolution of 27 June 2002 on lifelong learning (2002/C 163/01)

16  Progress towards the Lisbon objectives in Education and Training – Indicators and benchmarks 2009 (page 127)
17  Key data on Higher Education in Europe 2007 Edition, Eurydice(page 50) 
18  Key data on Higher Education in Europe 2007 Edition, Eurydice (page 54)

On	 an	 international	 level,	 all	 OECD11	
countries	 have	 seen	 upward	 trends	
in	 the	 participation	 of	 20	 to	 29	 year	
olds	 in	 tertiary	education	currently	at	
an	 average	 rate	 of	 25%	 of	 these	 age	
cohorts	 which	 is	 also	 comparable	
to	 the	 EU1912	 average	 rate.	 This	 is	
considerably	 higher	 than	 the	 9.3%	
registered	 in	 Malta	 in	 2008	 for	 the	
same	age	 cohorts.	 For	 the	entire	 EU-
27,	 the	 participation	 rate	 of	 those	
aged	18-39	years	in	tertiary	education	
is	aprox.	11%	of	all	people	 in	 this	age	
group,	 which	 is	 again	 considerably	
higher	 than	 the	 5.7%	 registered	 in	
Malta13.

The	 growth	 of	 the	 total	 student	
population	 in	 the	 further	 and	 higher	
education	 sector	 increased	 by	 well	
over	 50%	 over	 the	 last	 decade	 from	
13,909	 in	 1999	 to	 22,817	 in	 2009.	 In	
the	 last	 five	 years,	 the	 growth	 rate	
has	been	 just	under	20%	from	19,057	
in	 2004	 to	 22,817	 in	 2009.	 The	 past	
decade	 has	 witnessed	 a	 significant	
increase	 in	 the	 number	 of	 students	
attending	day	programmes	at	MCAST	
together	with	a	 slight	 increase	 in	 the	
students	 attending	 the	 University	 of	
Malta.	 Reaching	 higher	 participation	
rates	 at	 this	 level	 requires	 that	 more	
students	 leaving	 the	 compulsory	
school	system	successfully	obtain	the	
SEC	and	Matriculation	Certificates,	and	
that	 all	 further	 and	 higher	 education	
institutions	 are	 prepared	 for	 larger	
numbers	in	the	short	term.

Initiatives	 in	 place	 to	 increase	
participation	beyond	 the	 compulsory	
age	 include	 free	 provision	 of	 full-
time	 post	 secondary	 and	 tertiary	
education	beyond	compulsory	school	
age.	 Generous	 student	 maintenance	
grants	are	also	awarded	together	with	
scholarships	 for	 postgraduates	 and	
undergraduates	 through	 the	 Malta	
Government	 Scholarship	 Schemes	
(MGSS)	 and	 the	 Strategic	 Educational	
Pathway	Scholarship	Schemes	(STEPS).	

Research and Innovation

Malta	 has	 also	 stepped	 up	 its	 efforts	
in	the	field	of	research	and	innovation.	
The	 University	 of	 Malta	 is	 currently	
participating	 in	 7	 FP7	 projects	
amounting	 to	 around	 €	 920,000	 in	
funding14.	In	2009,	institutions	worked	
on	 existing	 projects	 co-financed	
through	 Structural	 and	 Cohesion	
Funds	 for	 2007-2013,	 whilst	 they	
continued	to	apply	for	further	projects	
under	this	programme	and	centralised	
funding.	In	2009	a	total	of	€21	million	
was	committed	from	ESF	and	ERDF	for	
projects	in	further	education,	whilst	in	
higher	education;	a	total	of	€45	million	
was	committed.

The	 Malta	 Government	 Scholarship	
Scheme	 for	 Post	 Graduate	 Courses,	
sponsored	 15	 students	 at	 a	 Masters	
level	and	32	at	a	Doctoral	level	in	2009.	

The	 Strategic	 Educational	 Pathways	
Scholarships	 Scheme	 (STEPS)	 worth	
€10	 million,	 supports	 post-graduate	
specialisation	at	a	Masters	or	Doctoral	
level	both	in	Malta	and	abroad.	During	
2009,	 37	 Doctoral	 scholarships	 and	
143	 Masters	 scholarships	 have	 been	
awarded	under	the	scheme.

Adult Learners

In	2008,	6.2%	of	adults	 in	Malta	were	
participating	 in	 lifelong	 learning15	
compared	 to	 9.5%	 of	 adults	 in	 the	
EU	 who	 participate	 in	 life	 long	
learning16.	 Progress	 is	 slow	 to	 reach	
the	benchmark	of	12.5%	by	2010	and	
15%	by	2020.	However,	 it	 is	pertinent	
to	 note	 that	 there	 are	 other	 local	
initiatives	 that	 organise	 formal,	 non-
formal	 and	 informal	 learning	 that	
are	 not	 accurately	 recorded,	 and	 the	
newly	established	Directorate	 for	Life	
Long	 Learning	within	 the	Ministry	 of	
Education	should	see	an	improvement	
in	 understanding	 the	 activity	 within	
this	sector.

In	 Malta,	 students	 pursuing	 part	
time	 tertiary	 studies	 are	 on	 average	
8	 years	 older	 than	 those	 pursing	
full	 time	 studies17.	 On	 average,	 for	
Bachelors	 and	 Masters	 programmes,	
part	 time	 students	 in	Malta	 take	 just	
under	twice	as	long	to	complete	their	
studies	 when	 compared	 to	 their	 full	
time	counterparts18.
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Mobility

In	 2009,	 159	 students	 were	 awarded	
a	 scholarship	 through	 the	 Malta	
Government	 Scholarship	 Schemes	
(MGSS).		An	additional	180	scholarships	
were	 awarded	 a	 scholarship	 through	
the	 STEPS	 scheme.	 Both	 schemes	
supported	students	 in	gaining	access	
to	 education	 leading	 to	 a	 foreign	
degree	in	new	areas	of	study19.
		
With	 regards	 to	 the	 flow	 of	 students	
in	 higher	 education,	 Malta	 has	
more	 outgoing	 students	 than	 it	 has	
incoming.	 The	 balance	 in	 2007	 was	
of	 340	more	 outgoing	 students	 than	
incoming	ones20.	Around	600	students	
were	studying	in	Malta	in	2007,	(6.2%	of	
the	total	higher	education	population)	
whilst	 around	 900	 students	 were	
studying	 abroad	 in	 2007	 (9.9%	 of	
Maltese	 students)	 predominantly	 in	
the	United	Kingdom21.		

Incoming	 mobility	 for	 the	 Erasmus	
programme	 was	 significantly	
higher	 than	 outgoing	 with	 359	
and	 107	 students,	 respectively	 for	
the	 academic	 year	 2007/200822.		
Malta’s	 participation	 in	 the	 Erasmus	
programme	as	 a	 student	host	 nation	
was	 4.5	 times	 the	 average	 at	 36.6	
students	per	 1,000,	 and	 as	 a	 sending	
nation	 was	 1.3	 times	 the	 average	 of	
the	 EU	 at	 10.9	 students	 per	 1,00023.	
The	first	Erasmus	Mundus	Programme	
(2004-2008)	 ended	 as	 expected	 in	
2008	 with	 the	 second	 generation	
Erasmus	 Mundus	 II	 (2009-2013)	 was	
officially	launched	in	January	2009.

19  Lifelong Learning Directorate database 2009, MEDC
20  NCHE Further and Higher Education Statistics 2009
21  Progress towards the Lisbon Objectives in Education and Training – Indicators and benchmarks 2009 (pages 31 & 32)
22  Eurostat Erasmus Statistics & Progress towards the Lisbon Objectives in Education and Training – Indicators and benchmarks 2009 (page 33) 
23  Progress towards the Lisbon Objectives in Education and Training – Indicators and benchmarks 2009 (page 33) 

Malta’s	Progress	in	Further	and	
Higher	Education	During	2009	(cont.)
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The Bologna Process - 
towards a European Higher 
Education Ares (EHEA)

Since	 the	 Bologna	 Declaration	 of	
June	 1999	 adopted	 by	 29	 countries,	
including	Malta,	the	process	has	grown	
to	 include	 46	 European	 countries,	
which	 all	 share	 the	 goal	 to	 create	 a	
European	 Higher	 Education	 Area	 by	
2010,	 in	 which	 students	 can	 choose	
from	a	wide	and	transparent	range	of	
high	quality	courses	and	benefit	from	
smooth	recognition	procedures.	

The	 three	 overarching	 objectives	
of	 the	 Bologna	 process	 have	 been	
from	 the	 start:	 introduction	 of	 the	
three	 cycle	 system	 (bachelor/master/
doctorate),	 quality	 assurance	 and	
recognition	 of	 qualifications	 and	
periods	of	study.

Every	 second	 year,	 Ministers	
responsible	 for	 higher	 education	 in	
the	 46	 Bologna	 countries	 meet	 to	
measure	progress	and	set	priorities	for	
action.	After	Bologna	(1999),	they	met	
in	Prague	(2001),	Berlin	(2003),	Bergen	
(2005),	 London	 (2007)	 and	 Leuven/
Louvain-La-Neuve,	 Belgium	 (April	
2009).

The	 ministerial	 summit	 held	 in	 2009	
took	 stock	 of	 the	 progress	 made	
against	 the	original	objectives	and	 in	
the	Leuven	Communiqué	of	2009	the	
Ministers	identified	these	priorities	for	
the	coming	decade:

•	 social	dimension:	equitable	access	
and	completion;

•	 lifelong	learning;
•	 employability;
•	 student-centred	learning	and	

the	teaching	mission	of	higher	
education;

•	 education,	research	and	
innovation;

•	 international	openness;
•	 mobility;
•	 data	collection;
•	 multidimensional	transparency	

tools;
•	 funding.

Steered	 by	 European	 Ministers	
responsible	 for	higher	education,	 the	
Bologna	process,	 is	a	collective	effort	
of	 public	 authorities,	 universities,	
teachers	 and	 students,	 together	with	
stakeholder	 associations,	 employers,	
quality	 assurance	 agencies,	
international	 organisations	 and	
institutions.	 In	 Malta,	 the	 CEO	 of	 the	
NCHE	 attended	 the	 Bologna	 Follow	
Up	 Group	 (BFUG)	 meetings	 as	 the	
national	 representative,	 and	 Malta’s	
response	 to	 the	 Bologna	 Process	 is	
co-ordinated	by	the	National	Bologna	
Expert	 Group	 made	 up	 of	 Higher	
Education	 experts	 and	 stakeholders	
in	 the	 process.	 NCHE	 forms	 part	 of	
Malta’s	Bologna	Expert	Group.

Progress	 is	 reported	 in	 period	
‘Stocktaking	 reports’	 which	 measure	
the	 progress	 of	 member	 states	 in	
different	 areas,	based	on	 the	 country	
reports	 submitted	 by	 each	 member	
state.	Malta’s	progress	report	for	2009	
was	 submitted	 and	 is	 available	 on	
the	 following	 website:	 	 http://www.
ond.vlaanderen.be/hogeronderwijs/
bologna/.	 Malta’s	 major	 area	 of	
required	 progress	 is	 in	 the	 area	 of	
developing	external	quality	assurance	
for	 the	 University	 and	 ensuring	
participation	 of	 students	 and	
international	peers	in	the	process.

After	more	than	ten	years	of	intensive	
reforms,	 the	 Ministers	 are	 now	
meeting	 again	 on	 11/12	 March	 2010	
in	 Budapest	 and	 Vienna	 to	 officially	
launch	the	European	Higher	Education	
Area,	as	decided	back	in	1999.

EU - the Higher Education 
Modernisation Agenda
The	European	Union,	apart	from	being	
a	 very	 active	 sponsor	 of	 the	 Bologna	
Process,	 is	 also	 driving	 more	 far	
reaching	reforms	for	its	member	states.	

Modernisation	of	Europe’s	universities,	
involving	 their	 interlinked	 roles	 of	
education,	 research	 and	 innovation,	
has	been	acknowledged	not	only	as	a	
core	 condition	 for	 the	 success	 of	 the	
broader	 Lisbon	 Strategy	 for	 growth	
and	 jobs,	 but	 as	 part	 of	 the	 wider	
move	 towards	 an	 increasingly	 global	
and	 knowledge-based	 economy.	 For	
this	 to	 happen	 European	Universities	
require	 in-depth	 restructuring	 and	
modernisation	 as	 outlined	 by	 the	
European	Commission.
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24  Documents available from http://ec.europa.eu/education/higher-education/doc1320_en.htm
25  Leuven/Louvain-la-Neuve Communiqué, April 2009

The	 European	 Commission	 has	
identified	 nine	 key	 challenges	 for	
higher	 education	 modernisation	
in	 its	 Communication	 ‘Delivering	
on	 the	 Modernisation	 Agenda	 for	
Universities:	 Education,	 Research	 and	
Innovation’.	These	are:

1.	 Break	 down	 the	 barriers	 around	
universities	in	Europe	(mobility)

2.	 Ensure	 real	 autonomy	 and	
accountability	for	universities	

3.	 Provide	 incentives	 for	 structured	
partnerships	 with	 the	 business	
community

4.	 Provide	 the	 right	 mix	 of	 skills	
and	 competencies	 for	 the	 labour	
market

5.	 Reduce	the	funding	gap	and	make	
funding	 work	more	 effectively	 in	
education	 and	 research	 (devote	
at	 least	 2%	 of	 GDP	 to	 higher	
education	 (including	 both	 public	
and	private	funding))	

6.	 Enhance	 interdisciplarity	 and	
transdisciplinarity	

7.	 Activate	 knowledge	 through	
interaction	with	society	

8.	 Reward	excellence	 at	 the	highest	
level	

9.	 Make	 the	 European	 Higher	
Education	Area	and	the	European	
Research	 Area	 more	 visible	 and	
attractive	in	the	world

In	 November	 2007,	 the	 Council	
adopted	 a	 resolution	 entitled	
“Modernising	 universities	 for	
Europe’s	competitiveness	 in	a	global	
knowledge	economy”.	A	Commission	
report	 on	 progress	 in	 the	 various	
dimensions	 of	 this	 agenda	 was	
published	in	2008,	and	ever	since,	the	
Commission	 has	 continued	 to	 push	

forward	 initiatives	 and	 studies	 on	
various	aspects	of	the	modernisation	
agenda	during	2009 24.

This	 work	 is	 done	 within	 a	 wider	 EU	
framework	 including	 the	Community	
Lisbon	Programme,	the	Education	and	
Training	 2010	 Work	 Programme,	 and	
through	financial	support	to	Member	
States	 and	 to	 universities	 in	 their	
modernisation	activities.

Whilst	 action	 is	 primarily	 for	 EU	
Member	 States	 and	 their	 universities,	
putting	 into	 practice	 this	 necessary	
restructuring	 and	 modernisation	
requires	 coordinated	 action	 from	
all	 parties	 involved.	 The	 European	
Commission	 can	 contribute	 through	
implementation	 of	 policy	 dialogue	
and	mutual	learning,	

NCHE	 has	 contributed	 to	 discussions	
on	 a	 policy	 level	 locally	 as	well	 as	 in	
different	 working	 groups	 at	 an	 EU	
level	 to	 develop	 these	 action	 lines	
further.	 The	 NCHE	 Strategy	 2020	 for	
Further	and	Higher	Education	in	Malta	
and	 the	 policy	 recommendations	
in	 relation	 to	 a	 Further	 and	 Higher	
Education	 Act	 are	 the	 two	 principal	
areas	 of	 work	 which	 address	 these	
recommendations.

Student and Staff Mobility

The	 Bologna	 Process	 participatory	
countries	 continue	 to	 push	 student	
and	 staff	 mobility	 to	 the	 top	 of	 the	
European	 higher	 education	 agenda,	
with	 increasing	 the	 numbers	 of	
mobile	students	remaining	one	of	the	
top	priorities	for	the	process.	
The Bologna ministerial summit of 

Leuven in 2009, confirmed the target 
that “in 2020, at least 20% of those 
graduating in the European Higher 
Education Area should have had a study 
or training period abroad” 25.

Mobility	 is	 often	 seen	 as	 the	 basis	
for	many	 of	 the	 reforms	 in	 European	
Higher	 Education,	 in	 that	 its	 success	
is	dependent	on	countries’	successful	
implementation	 of	 other	 ‘action	
lines’	 or	 priorities	 such	 as	 degree	
recognition,	 a	 credit	 transfer	 and	
accumulation	system,	the	three-cycle	
system,	qualifications	frameworks	and	
an	 increased	 European	 dimension	 to	
higher	education	curricula.

The	 European	 Commission	 is	 also	
committed	 to	 increasing	 student	
mobility	 numbers	 and	 aims	 to	 have	
had	three	million	students	participate	
in	 the	 EU’s	 flagship	 mobility	
programme	‘Erasmus’	by	2012.	

While	 Erasmus	 is	 the	 most	 popular	
of	 the	 EU’s	 mobility	 programmes,	
the	 EU	 Commission’s	 Lifelong	
Learning	 Programme	 also	 includes	
the	 Comenius,	 Leonardo	 da	 Vinci	
and	 Grundtvig.	 Comenius	 focuses	
on	 the	 first	 phase	 of	 education,	 from	
pre-school	 and	primary	 to	 Secondary	
school,	 and	 it	 is	 addressed	 to	 all	
members	of	the	education	community	
while	 Grundtvig	 deals	 with	 Adult	
learning	and	education.	The	Leonardo	
da	 Vinci	 Programme	 focuses	 on	
raising	 the	 quality	 and	 relevance	 of	
VET,	 and	 provides	 an	 opportunity	 for	
organizations	involved	in	VET	to	build	
European	partnerships,	exchange	best	
practice,	increase	the	expertise	of	their	
staff	and	develop	the	skills	of	learners.
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In	2009,	the	NCHE	started	functioning	
as	 Malta’s	 national	 Erasmus	 Mundus	
structure	 and	 supported	 the	
implementation	 of	 the	 second	
generation	 Erasmus	 Mundus	
programme	which	runs	 from	2009	to	
2013.		

Malta	still	needs	to	address	a	number	
of	 issues	 relating	 to	 the	 full	 take	 up	
of	 opportunities	 available	 under	
these	 programmes,	 by	 ensuring	 that	
students	are	better	prepared	in	more	
languages	 other	 than	 Maltese	 and	
English	 in	 order	 to	 embrace	 more	
opportunities	 available	 in	 European	
universities.

Quality Assurance and 
Ranking
Increasing	 the	 quality	 of	 higher	
education	across	Europe	as	well	as	the	
need	for	quality	assurance	policies	to	
be	in	place	and	adequately	resourced		
and	 structured,	 remained	 a	 high	
priority	on	the	European	agenda.	

2009	 was	 also	 a	 very	 active	 year	 for	
the	 European	 Quality	 Assurance	
Register	 (EQAR),	 which	 was	 founded	
in	 2008,	 and	 saw	 the	 reviews	 of	 the	
first	 applicant	 agencies	 emerge	 for	
inclusion	 in	 the	 register.	 Agencies	
included	 in	 the	 register	 are	 those	
which	 can	 demonstrate	 compliance	
with	 the	 European	 Standards	 and	
Guidelines	for	Quality	Assurance	(ESG)	
to	 provide	 the	 public	 with	 clear	 and	
reliable	 information	on	quality	of	 the	
Universities	they	assure.26		

Albeit	 at	 different	 stages	 of	
development,	 in	 2009,	 all	 but	 two	
countries	 in	 Europe	 had	 a	 quality	
assurance	 system	 in	 place.	 Various	
countries	 are	 actually	 reforming	
existing	 quality	 assurance	 policies	
to	 ensure	 compliance	 with	 ESG	
standards.	Malta	was	one	of	those	still	
without	an	external	policy	framework,	
and	any	new	quality	assurance	agency	
developed	 should	 strive	 to	 fulfil	 the	
criteria	 necessary	 to	 join	 the	 EQAR	
register.

The	European	Commission	continued	
to	actively	promote	the	development	
of	new	ranking	and	transparency	tools	
for	 higher	 education	 and	 research	
institutions	 in	 Europe.	 Whilst	 this	 in	
itself	 will	 provide	 students	 with	 very	
useful	 information,	 it	 is	 important	
to	 acknowledge	 the	 challenges	
that	 state	 funded	 universities	 with	
missions	strongly	focused	on	regional	
or	 national	 development	 in	 small	
states	 face,	 in	 comparison	 to	 other	
universities	 of	much	 larger	 scale	 that	
are	primarily	focused	on	research	and	
can	 also	 secure	 substantial	 private	
funding	for	their	work.	

In	 this	 respect,	 the	 NCHE	 continued	
to	 highlight	 the	 need	 for	 tools	 to	
compare	 and	 reflect	 the	 diverse	
missions	 of	 Universities,	 and	 their	
strength	 in	 relation	 to	 such	 diverse	
missions.	Debates	on	this	issue	are	still	
ongoing	however	a	number	of	actions	
are	 currently	 undertaken	 by	 the	 EU	
Commission	 to	 study	 and	 develop	
such	new	ranking	systems.	

Research and Attractiveness

In	 2009,	 the	 emphasis	 on	 promoting	
effective	 interactions	 within	 the	
knowledge	 triangle	 (education,	
research	and	innovation),	has	emerged	
more	 strongly	 in	 the	 European	
Research	 Area	 (ERA)	 Vision	 2020.	 As	
part	 of	 the	 effort	 to	 improve	 the	
excellence	of	research	and	education,	
Europe	needs	to	address	the	research	
and	innovation	ecosystem	as	a	whole,	
by	 ensuring	 that	 the	 modernisation	
of	 research,	 education	 and	
innovation	 systems	 is	 implemented	
in	 a	 coordinated	 and	 coherent	 way	
through	 jointly	 designed	 policies	
and	 effective	 engagement	 of	 the	
stakeholders.	

The	ERA	Vision	2020	is	based	on	three	
main	strategic	objectives:

•	 The	ERA	is	firmly	rooted	in	society	
and	 responsive	 to	 its	 needs	 and	
ambitions	in	pursuit	of	sustainable	
development;

•	 The	 ERA	 defines	 the	 European	
way	 to	 excellence	 in	 research	
and	 is	a	major	driver	of	European	
competitiveness	in	the	globalised	
world;

•	 The	ERA	provides	a	seamless	area	
of	 freedom	 and	 opportunities	
for	 dialogue,	 exchange	 and	
interaction	open	to	the	world.

Within	 this	 frame,	 the	 European	
Research	Areas’	main	objectives	are	to:

•	 Enable	 researchers	 to	 move	 and	
interact	 seamlessly,	 benefit	 from	
world-class	 infrastructures	 and	
work	 with	 excellent	 networks	 of	
research	institutions;

26  Source: www.eqar.eu 
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•	 Share,	 teach,	 value	 and	 use	
knowledge	 effectively	 for	 social,	
business	and	policy	purposes;

•	 Optimise	 and	 open	 European,	
national	 and	 regional	 research	
programmes	 in	 order	 to	 support	
the	 best	 research	 throughout	
Europe	 and	 coordinate	 these	
programmes	 to	 address	 major	
challenges	together;

•	 Develop	 strong	 links	 with	
partners	 around	 the	 world	
so	 that	 Europe	 benefits	 from	
the	 worldwide	 progress	 of	
knowledge,	 contributes	 to	 global	
development	and	takes	a	 leading	
role	 in	 international	 initiatives	 to	
solve	global	issues.;

•	 In	order	to	define	the	way	forward,	
CREST	 has	 developed	 dedicated	
configurations	 for	 Knowledge	
Transfer,	 Joint	 Programming,	 and	
International	 S&T	 cooperation.	
Within	 the	 CREST	 Knowledge	
Transfer	 Group,	 two	 sub-groups	
have	 been	 set	 up:	 one	 on	
assessment	 of	 different	 aspects	
of	 international	 knowledge	
transfer	and	developing	common	
guidance	in	this	field,	and	another	
on	establishing	monitoring	system	
and	development	of	indicators.

Unesco World Conference 
on Higher Education

Ten	 years	 after	 the	 first	 World	
Conference	 on	 Higher	 Education	 in	
1998,	 the	UNESCO	World	 Conference	
on	 Higher	 Education	 2009	 entitled	
“The	 New	 Dynamics	 of	 Higher	
Education	 and	 Research	 for	 Societal	
Change	 and	Development”	was	 held	
in	Paris	5th	–	8th	July	2009.

Over	 1,200	 participants	 from	 148	
countries	 reaffirmed	 the	 role	 of	
higher	 education	 in	 meeting	 global	
challenges	-	from	poverty	eradication	
to	 sustainable	 development	 to	
Education	 for	 All	 -	 while	 renewing	
their	 commitment	 to	 improving	
access,	quality	and	gender	equity.

The	 conference	 participants	 issued	
a	 communiqué	 at	 the	 end	 of	 the	
conference	 which	 outlined	 the	 way	
ahead	 for	 UNESCO’s	 role	 in	 Higher	
Education	 and	 called	 on	 Member	
states	 to	 take	 concrete	 action	 to	
overcome	 the	 challenges	 facing	 the	
sector.	

The	 conference	 addressed	 the	 issue	
of	 societal	 commitment	 to	 higher	
education	–	 from	questions	of	public	
financing,	 to	 the	 role	 of	 the	 private	
sector	or	civil	society,	to	the	importance	
of	 international	 cooperation	 for	 the	
transfer	of	 knowledge	across	borders	
as	 well	 as	 issues	 including	 the	 social	
responsibility	 of	 public	 institutions,	
such	 as	 Universities	 and	 other	
institutions	of	higher	education.		

In	 a	 time	 of	 environmental	 and	
economic	 crisis,	 the	 conference	
addressed	 why	 and	 how	 universities	
and	 institutions	 of	 higher	 education	
are	 becoming	 increasingly	
instrumental	in	order	to	impact	social	
and	economic	development.	

The	 conference	 also	 sought	 to	
investigate	and	develop	three	different	
areas	among	higher	education’s	social	
responsibilities:	 the	 promotion	 of	
sustainable	 development,	 including	
through	 new	 and	 emerging	
technologies;	the	achievement	of	the	
Millennium	Development	Goals,	with	
a	focus	on	poverty	reduction;	and	the	
promotion	of	entrepreneurship	for	job	
creation	and	social	progress.	

For	the	full	text	of	the	communiqué	and	
conference	 proceedings	 visit	 http://
www.unesco.org/en/wche2009/.

In	the	run	up	to	the	world	conference,	
the	 UNESCO	 International	 Institute	
for	 Educational	 Planning	 (IIEP)	 also	
organised	 a	 Policy	 Forum	on	 Tertiary	
Education	 in	 Small	 States:	 Planning	
in	 the	 Context	 of	 Globalization.	 The	
Policy	 Forum	 was	 held	 on	 Thursday	
2	 and	 Friday	 3	 July	 2009	 at	 the	
IIEP	 in	 Paris.	 Mr.	 Jacques	 Sciberras	
represented	the	NCHE	and	presented	
a	 paper	 titled	 “Tertiary	 education	
reform	 between	 regional	 integration	
and	 nation-building	 -	 the	 case	 of	
Malta”.
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Further	and	Higher	Education	
Strategy	2020

One of the main functions of the NCHe, is to co-ordinate a structured dialogue with all stakeholders 
with the aim of making recommendations to Government to formulate a strategy for further and 
higher education. This was not possible in the first two years of the NCHe operations, due to the 
need for structured data, research on various dimensions of Malta’s relative performance on an 
international level, and the need for deeper insight to key issues relating to the sector in Malta. In 
2007 an initial round of consultations identified quality assurance, funding and governance as the 
three key areas of immediate attention. 2008 was a year of focus on quality assurance, governance 
and funding research and proposals. 

2009 built on these core issues and focused on developing a framework that can set Malta’s further 
and higher education sectors on a path towards becoming a centre of excellence and an international 
point of reference. The final strategy recommendations are the result of a process that is outlined 
hereunder. 

Launch of Consultation 
Meetings with Key 
Stakeholders 

On	 the	 19th	 January	 2009,	
Education	 Minister	 Hon.	 Dolores	
Cristina	 announced	 the	 launch	 of	
a	 consultation	 process	 through	 the	
NCHE,	 during	 a	 press	 conference	
held	 at	 the	 Old	 University	 Building	
in	 Valletta.	 The	 Minister	 indicated	
that	 the	 strategy	 would	 group	 all	
higher	education	 institutions	under	a	
comprehensive	legislative	framework,	

would	aim	to	strike	a	balance	between	
learning	 and	 research,	 seek	 different	
ways	 to	 finance	 higher	 education,	
attract	more	foreign	students,	improve	
assessment	 methods	 and	 improve	
transparency	 and	 accountability,	
among	other	goals.

A	number	of	one	to	one	consultation	
meetings	 were	 held	 with	 the	 NCHE	
in	 the	 initial	months	 of	 2009.	 During	
these	 consultations,	 NCHE	 had	 the	
opportunity	 to	 discuss	 specific	
institution	 and	 stakeholder	 concerns	

and	vision,	and	in	many	cases	received	
detailed	 written	 submissions	 from	
stakeholders	 on	 measures	 that	 may	
contribute	 to	 the	 long	 term	 strategic	
orientation	of	the	sector.	

Stakeholders	also	had	the	opportunity	
to	 comment	 on	 former	 policy	
recommendations	 of	 NCHE	 related	
to	 Quality	 Assurance,	 funding	
outcomes	of	different	budget	 related	
policy	 documents,	 and	 overall	
developments.

from left to right: mr alex manché, dr phlip von brockdorff; hon dolores Cristina, mr Jacques sciberras
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Further	and	Higher	Education	
Strategy	2020	(cont.)

Consultation Seminar 
A	 consultation	 seminar	 for	 key	
stakeholders	was	organised	on	the	24th	
February	 2009	 at	 the	 Mediterranean	
Conference	 Centre.	 Over	 60	 heads	
of	 entities	 and	 staff	 and	 student	
representatives	 attended	 the	 seminar	
to	 discuss	 and	 draw	 some	 general	
conclusions	 from	 the	 initial	 phase	 of	
the	 process.	 The	 NCHE	 presented	 a	
draft	 set	 of	 strategic	 priorities	 for	 a	
Further	and	Higher	Education	Strategy	
and	 stakeholders	 had	 the	 chance	 to	
comment	and	share	views	on	different	
aspects	of	the	strategy.

The	 seminar	 was	 opened	 by	 the	
Chairman	 of	 the	 NCHE,	 Dr.	 Philip	
von	 Brockdorff,	 who	 introduced	
the	 main	 thrusts	 of	 the	 NCHE’s	
recommendations.		

The	 main	 objectives	 identified	
included	 the	 need	 for	 increased	
student	 participation	 rates;	 the	
importance	 of	 turning	 Malta	 into	 an	
attractive,	excellent,	higher	education	
destination;	 the	 need	 for	 quality	
assurance;	 increased	 research;	 and	
the	 structural	 reforms	 needed	 in	
terms	 of	 governance	 and	 funding	 of	

State	 institutions	 in	 particular	 for	 the	
University	of	Malta.		

Members	 of	 the	 NCHE	 secretariat	
gave	in	depth	analysis	of	the	different	
themes,	 and	 a	 discussion	 ensued	
where	 all	 stakeholders	 voiced	 their	
concerns	 and	 suggestions	 for	 the	
consideration	of	the	Commission.

The	 seminar	 concluded	 with	 an	
invitation	 to	 all	 stakeholders	 to	
forward	 formal	 feedback	 on	 any	
aspect	 of	 the	 main	 set	 of	 strategic	
recommendations	identified.

NChe stakeholders at the further & higher education strategy 2020 seminar at mCC

NChe board members addressing stakeholders stakeholders sharing views on different aspects of the strategy
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National Conference 
Launching Final NCHE 
Recommendations
On	 the	 3rd	 of	 April	 2009,	 NCHE	
launched	 its	 first	 Strategy	 document	
entitled	 “Further	 and	 Higher	
Education	Strategy	2020”.	The	National	
Conference	 was	 open	 to	 the	 public	
and	attended	by	over	150	participants,	
including	all	key	stakeholders,	and	was	
held	at	the	Westin	Dragonara	Resort.	

The	 conference	 was	 opened	 by	
Minister	 for	 Education,	 Hon.	 Dolores	
Cristina	who	 said	 that	 the	NCHE	 had	
co-ordinated	 consultations	 with	
key	 stakeholders	 with	 the	 aim	 of	
identifying	 the	 major	 challenges	
and	 opportunities	 for	 the	 sector	 and	
making	recommendations	on	the	way	
forward.	

She	 remarked	 that	 in	 recent	
years,	 Malta	 witnessed	 significant	
developments	 in	 this	 sector	 and	 has	
seen	 more	 students	 participate	 in	
post-secondary	and	tertiary	education	
today	than	ever	before.	More	projects	

are	 being	 implemented	 to	 address	
various	dimensions	within	the	system	
and	 more	 opportunities	 are	 being	
provided	 to	 students	 to	 access	 both	
local	 and	 foreign	 studies	 and	 reach	
their	highest	potential.

Hon.	 Minister	 Cristina	 described	 the	
strategy	 proposed	 by	 the	 NCHE	 as	
thorough,	ambitious	and	exciting.	She	
said	that	the	Strategy	was	the	first	of	its	
kind	for	Malta,	an	important	milestone	
for	 the	 NCHE,	 for	 the	 Ministry	 of	
Education	and	for	the	entire	sector.	She	
recommended	 that	 progress	 towards	
the	 objectives	 set	 is	 reported	 by	 the	
NCHE	every	three	years.

The	 leap	 forward	 in	 providing	
thousands	 of	 students	 opportunities	
to	 acquire	 medium	 to	 high	 level	
qualifications,	 has	 been	 a	 central	
part	 of	 the	 mission	 of	 government	
and	 will	 remain	 a	 key	 objective	 for	
the	 foreseeable	 future,	 Hon.	 Minister	
Dolores	Cristina	said.

Chairman	 of	 the	 NCHE,	 Dr.	 Philip	
von	 Brockdorff,	 urged	 Government	

and	 all	 stakeholders	 to	 consider	 the	
Strategy	as	a	platform	 for	dialogue,	a	
sound	 basis	 for	 future	 reforms	 and	 a	
comprehensive	list	of	other	measures	
that	 can	 be	 developed	 by	 various	
stakeholders.	

The	 Strategy	 contains	 a	 number	 of	
recommendations	 which	 define	 the	
work	of	 the	NCHE	 itself	 in	 the	 future.	
It	includes	the	future	role	of	the	NCHE	
as	a	Quality	Assurance	agency	as	well	
as	 an	 advisory	 body	 that	 continues	
providing	 evidence	 based	 research	
and	 information	 on	 the	 sector,	 its	
progress	 towards	 targets	 being	 set,	
existing	 and	 future	 skills	mismatches,	
and	 reviews	of	 funding	 requirements	
and	 three	 year	 financial	 plans	 to	
inform	policy	makers.

This	 is	an	 important	process	 for	both	
the	 Commission	 and	 its	 Secretariat	
who	 can	 deliver	 only	 with	 the	 full	
support	 and	 collaboration	 of	 all	
our	 stakeholders	 –	 institutional	
management,	academic	staff,	students	
and	their	respective	representatives.

participants of the further and higher education strategy 2020 Conference

hon. minister dolores Cristina addressing the 
audience at the further and higher education 
strategy 2020 Conference

NChe Ceo, Jacques sciberras, addressing the 
audience at the conference 
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Further	and	Higher	Education	
Strategy	2020	(cont.)

Further and Higher 
Education Strategy 2020

The	 strategy	 document	 gives	 a	
general	 overview	 of	 the	 sector,	
the	 socio-economic	 context	 and	
challenges	 to	 which	 education	 must	
respond,	 and	 the	 necessary	 actions	
which	 the	sector	needs	 to	become	a	
centre	of	excellence.

Further	 education	 includes	 all	 post	
secondary	 level	 studies	 provided	
by	 various	 state	 and	 non	 state	
institutions.	 These	 include	 the	 Junior	
College,	 higher	 secondary	 schools	
of	 Giovanni	 Curmi	 in	 Naxxar	 and	 Sir.	
Michael	 Refalo	 in	 Gozo,	 private	 sixth	
forms,	and	vocational	colleges	such	as	
MCAST	 and	 ITS.	 This	 sector	 provides	
for	 over	 11,000	 students	 in	 2008	
compared	 to	 nearly	 7,000	 students	
in	 1998.	 Higher	 education	 refers	 to	
studies	 leading	 towards	 degrees	
provided	mainly	 by	 the	 University	 of	
Malta	 and	 other	 private	 institutions.	
The	sector	provides	for	9,700	students	
in	 2008	 compared	 to	 just	 over	 7,000	
students	in	1998.	Put	together,	further	
and	 higher	 education	 systems	 in	
Malta	 provide	 for	 over	 21,000	 (2008)	
students	with	education	and	training	
opportunities.
	
The	 challenges	 faced	 by	 Malta	 over	
the	foreseeable	future	include	a	global	
economic	 downturn,	 accentuated	
by	 a	 need	 for	 structural	 reforms	 in	
our	 labour	 market,	 coupled	 with	
globalisation	and	 rapid	 technological	
change.	 These,	 together	 with	 the	
challenge	 of	 an	 ageing	 population,	
push	 education	 to	 the	 forefront	 of	
government’s	 agenda	 to	 ensure	 that	
through	knowledge	and	 skills,	 young	
generations	 of	 today	 can	 meet	 and	
sustain	 the	 growing	 burdens	 they	
will	 face	 in	 the	 future.	 The	writing	 is	
on	 the	 wall	 –	 practically	 all	 students	

need	further	education	and	we	need	
to	ensure	 that	 through	our	 collective	
efforts	everyone	gets	an	opportunity	
to	do	so.

The	 education	 system	 on	 the	 other	
hand	 is	undergoing	 radical	 structural	
reforms	 to	 meet	 these	 challenges.	
Changes	 take	 time	 to	 bring	 gradual	
transformation	 and	 improvement.	
The	 NCHE	 points	 out	 the	 important	
link	 of	 learning	 outcomes	 within	 the	
compulsory	 school	 system	 and	 the	
need	 for	 these	 to	 be	 strengthened	
as	a	prerequisite	 for	 those	seeking	 to	
progress	 into	 post	 secondary	 levels	
of	education.	Second	chance	systems	
are	 being	 advocated	 as	 a	 short	 term	
measure	 to	 mitigate	 the	 situation	
of	 high	 levels	 of	 early	 school	 leavers	
who	 after	 11	 years	 of	 schooling	 still	
fail	 to	 acquire	 the	 necessary	 skills	 to	
cope	with	studies	at	a	further	level	of	
education.	

The	four	strategic	objectives	outlined	
in	the	strategy	are:	
1.	 attract	 more	 young	 students	

and	 adults	 to	 further	 and	 higher	
education;

2.	 ensure	 fair	 access	 to	 all	 students	
willing	to	continue	their	studies;

3.	 transform	 Malta	 into	 a	 centre	
of	 excellence	 in	 education	 and	
research;	and	

4.	 sustain	 public	 responsibility	 to	
secure	 an	 inclusive,	 high	 quality	
and	 responsive	 education	
outcomes.

The	strategy	outlines	12	priority	areas	
which	 set	 targets	 for	 participation	
rates	of	85%	by	2015	at	a	 further	and	
35%	 by	 2020	 at	 a	 higher	 education	
level,	 from	 the	 current	 60%	 and	 22%	
respectively	 in	 2008.	 It	 also	 urges	 for	
measures	 to	 attract	 more	 students	
to	areas	of	national	priority	 including	
science	 and	 technology,	 to	 attract	

more	adults	to	education	and	training	
up	 to	 4%	 of	 the	 adult	 population,	
and	to	attract	up	to	5,000	 fee	paying	
foreign	students	to	Malta	by	2020.

To	 develop	 Malta	 as	 a	 centre	 of	
excellence	 in	 education,	 the	 NCHE	
emphasized	 the	 importance	 of	
high	 quality	 research	 activity	 within	
higher	education,	the	need	to	ensure	
fair	 and	 open	 access	 to	 all	 students	
willing	 to	 continue	 studying,	 and	
the	 importance	 of	 student	 and	
staff	 mobility	 in	 providing	 wider	
educational	and	training	experiences.

The	 system	 needs	 to	 develop	 a	
‘quality	culture’.	To	this	end	the	NCHE	
urges	 for	 reforms	 to	 put	 in	 place	
the	 necessary	 systems	 required	 for	
achieving	these	targets.	Amongst	the	
recommendations,	NCHE	urges	for	the	
establishment	 of	 a	 quality	 assurance	
agency,	 further	 development	 of	
Malta’s	 Qualification	 Framework,	 a	
review	of	the	current	governance	and	
funding	systems	for	state	institutions,	
and	 a	 synchronized	 external	 policy	
to	 link	 efforts	 of	Malta	with	 ongoing	
developments	 on	 a	 European	 and	
International	level.

The	strategy	document	provides	a	case	
for	 investment	of	over	€1	billion	over	
the	 coming	 decade	 in	 the	 formation	
of	 human	 capital	 in	 Malta.	 This	 will	
lead	to	the	education	and	training	of	
over	 100,000	 students	 and	 adults	 to	
attain	 further	 levels	 of	 qualifications.	
Potential	revenues	of	over	€1.5	million	
annually	 can	 be	 raised	 by	 attracting	
500	foreign	fee-paying	students	each	
year.	 The	 plan	 would	 lead	 to	 Malta	
achieving	 its	 targets	 of	 growth	 in	
student	participation	rates	up	to	85%	
of	17	year	olds	in	further	education	by	
2015	and	35%	of	19	year	olds	in	higher	
education	by	2020.
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Policy	Reviews	During	2009

A New Further and Higher 
Education Act

During	 2008,	 extensive	 consultations	
had	been	carried	out	with	stakeholders	
to	review	the	current	licensing	structure	
for	 private	 providers	 in	 the	 sector,	 as	
well	 as	 to	 develop	 a	 set	 of	 standards	
for	 licensing	 and	 quality	 assurance.	
The	NCHE	had	also	set	as	its	two	other	
priority	areas	of	work,	governance	and	
funding	 reform,	 in	 particular	 those	
related	to	the	University	of	Malta.

2009	 saw	 the	 NCHE	 consolidate	 its	
recommendations	 for	 reform	 of	 the	
current	Education	Act,	 in	 the	 form	of	
draft	 legal	 texts	 which	 may	 address	
these	 three	policy	dimensions.	These	
texts	 were	 presented	 to	 the	Minister	
for	 Education	 during	 2008,	 and	
discussed	 in	 detail	 during	 the	 first	
months	of	2009.

The	 Minister	 of	 Education	 requested	
the	 NCHE,	 to	 carry	 out	 further	
consultations	 in	 the	 wider	 context	
of	 a	 Strategy	 for	 Further	 and	 Higher	
Education	 until	 2020,	 which	 could	
widen	 the	 scope	 of	 reform	 and	
inform	the	policy	debate	on	the	wider	
implications	of	such	reforms.

Following	 these	 discussions,	 the	
Minister	 of	 Education	 informed	 the	
NCHE	 of	 the	 intention	 to	 develop	 a	
separate	Further	and	Higher	Education	
Act	to	take	account	of	reforms	needed	
across	 various	 dimensions	 of	 policy	
related	 to	 the	 sector	 in	 a	 more	
consolidated	 manner,	 and	 that	 such	
an	 act	 would	 be	 developed	 by	 the	
Ministry	 of	 Education	on	 the	basis	 of	
NCHE	recommendations	for	licensing,	
quality	 assurance,	 governance	 and	
funding	policies.	

Review of Student Support 
Schemes

In	 December	 2008,	 the	 Minister	 for	
Education,	 Culture,	 Youth	 and	 Sport,	
commissioned	the	NCHE	to	review	all	
available	 student	 support	 schemes,	
with	a	special	focus	on	understanding	
the	 adequacy	 of	 the	 portfolio	 of	
student	 schemes,	 scholarships	 and	
grants	 in	 addressing	 the	 issue	 of	
wider	 access	 to	 further	 and	 higher	
education,	 their	 implications	 vis	 a	 vis	
regulations	 related	 to	 the	 European	
Union	for	Maltese	and	EU	citizens	and	
also	third	country	nationals.

The	 work	 was	 mainly	 co-ordinated	
by	Ms.	 Amanda	 Borg	 from	 the	NCHE	
Secretariat.	 The	 review	 looked	 at	
all	 available	 schemes	 in	 early	 2009	
and	 submitted	 its	 analysis	 to	 the	
Minister	 in	 March	 2009.	 NCHE	 made	
recommendations	 on	 how	 schemes	
can	 be	 improved	 to	 ensure	 that	 all	
students	 in	 both	 public	 and	 private	
sector	 of	 education	 can	 receive	
support	 at	 par.	 The	 review	 also	
identified	all	the	relevant	EU	directives	
and	case	law	applicable	to	the	various	
schemes	available	and	their	impact	on	
current	systems.		

Review of the MATSEC 
Examination System
NCHE	 was	 charged	 with	 the	 review	
of	 irregularities	 experienced	 during	
the	SEC	and	MATSEC	examinations	of	
2009.	It	was	also	asked	to	co-ordinate	
a	 Peer-Review	 of	 the	 standards	 and	
procedures	 of	 these	 examinations	
vis-à-vis	other	national	school	leaving	
examinations	in	Europe.	

The	process	was	mainly	co-ordinated	
by	 Ms.	 Chrsitine	 Scholz	 from	 the	
NCHE	Secretariat,	after	a	consultation	
process	 with	 the	 key	 actors	 of	 the	
SEC	 and	 MATSEC	 examination	
system.	 NCHE	 tabled	 its	 report	 and	
recommendations	 for	 improvement	
along	 with	 a	 proposal	 on	 how	 to	
undertake	 the	 Peer-Review	 process	
in	 2010.	 Talks	 with	 a	 foreign	 agency	
responsible	 for	 such	 reviews	 in	 the	
United	 Kingdom	 are	 underway	 to	
implement	the	peer	review.

National Reform 
Programme – Interim 
Review
NCHE	 was	 charged	 with	 the	 co-
ordination	 of	 the	 report	 for	 the	
education	 sector	 interim	 review	
process	 of	 the	 National	 Reform	
Programme	 2009-2013.	 Work	 was	
mainly	 co-odinated	 by	 Ms.	 Kirsten	
Miller	 from	 the	 NCHE	 Secretariat.	
Most	 of	 the	 initiatives	 within	 the	
NRP	 relate	 to	 short	 term	 education	
measures	 which	 address	 labour	
market	 requirements.	 This	 implies	
that	 outcomes	 of	 further	 and	 higher	
education	 are	 of	 central	 importance.	
The	 report	 outlines	 Malta’s	 ongoing	
measures	 to	 address	 the	 targets	 set	
for	education.		
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The	 NCHE	 launched	 its	 second	
annual	 survey	 entitled	 “Further	 and	
Higher	 Education	 Statistics	 2009”	 in	
February	 2010.	 	 The	 survey	 involved	
the	 collection	 of	 information,	 data	
and	 statistics	 from	 all	 public	 and	
private	 further	 and	 higher	 education	
institutions	in	Malta.	

Information	 meetings	 were	 held	
with	 both	 public	 and	 private	 sector	
providers,	 to	 help	 institutions	
understand	 the	 reporting	
requirements	 in	adequately	mapping	
programmes	 provided	 and	 student	
populations	 attending	 such	 courses.		
Additional	 support	 was	 provided	
throughout	 the	 year	 to	 assist	 those	
involved	in	the	compilation.		

Data	is	collected	in	electronic	format,	
through	 the	 on-line	 data	 collection	
system	 available	 for	 providers.	 	 All	
definitions	of	terms	and	classifications	
are	outlined	in	a	guide	which	has	been	
made	available	and	has	proved	useful	
to	those	compiling	the	information.		

32	institutions	responded	to	the	survey,	
20	 of	 which	 self	 classified	 themselves	
as	further	education	institutions	and	12	
that	self	classified	themselves	as	higher	
education	institutions.		
The	report	highlights	some	important	
facts	including:	

•	 60%	 of	 17	 year	 olds	 participate	
in	 post	 secondary	 general	 and	
vocational	education;

•	 26%	of	19	year	olds	participate	 in	
tertiary	education;

•	 6.2%	 of	 adults	 participate	 in	
lifelong	learning	within	the	sector;

•	 5%	 of	 all	 students	 in	 higher	
education	 and	 19%	 of	 all	
students	 in	 further	 education	
attended	 private	 institutions;	

•	 178	 students	 undertook	 Doctoral	
level	research;

•	 18%	 of	 students	 in	 higher	
education	 in	Malta	were	 enrolled	
in	science	related	fields;

•	 12,	 661	 students	 attended	 full	
and	 part-time	 further	 education	
and	an	additional	3,898	 following	
short	courses;

•	 10,156	 students	 attended	
higher	 education	 programmes	
predominantly	 at	 the	 University	
of	Malta.			

This	 work	 serves	 as	 a	 good	 basis	 for	
an	 eventual	 register	 of	 authorised	
and	 accredited	 institutions	 and	
programmes	available	in	Malta.

During	 2009,	 NCHE	 has	 launched	
three	 new	dimensions	 to	 the	Annual	
Survey	 in	 advance	 of	 2010.	 	 These	
include	 information	 on	 inward	 and	
outward	student	mobility,	staff	profile	
of	the	different	institutions	and	special	
needs.		

In	addition,	a	number	of	various	other	
initiatives	 are	 taking	 place	 at	 an	 EU	
and	 Europe	 wide	 level	 to	 develop	
comparable	 indicators	 and	 more	
transparent	tools	for	students	to	base	
their	study	and	mobility	choices	on	in	
the	future.	Work	done	by	NCHE	during	
2009	 which	 will	 have	 an	 impact	 on	
future	 survey	 and	 statistics	 report	
includes:

•	 EUMIDA	 feasibility	 study	 on	 the	
development	of	an	EU	database	on	
all	HE	institutions	 in	Europe.	NCHE	
and	NSO	have	been	 collaborating	
to	give	the	necessary	responses	on	
future	data	collection	and	structure	
in	 relation	 to	 Higher	 Education	 in	
Malta.;
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Statistics	and	Benchmarks	for	the	Sector

NChe further and higher education statistics 
Report 2009

•	 The	EUROSTUDENT	project	which	
collates	 comparable	 data	 on	 the	
social	and	economic	conditions	of	
student	life	in	Europe.	NCHE	is	co-
ordinating	 Malta’s	 participation	
in	 EUROSTUDENT	 IV	 planned	
for	 2010.	 This	 will	 target	 higher	
education	 students	 in	 Malta	
through	a	questionnaire.;

•	 Statistical	 support	 is	 also	 given	
for	 the	 compilation	 of	 a	 number	
of	 studies	and	 reviews	within	 the	
EU,	 Bologna,	 UNESCO,	 OECD	 and	
other	 international	 projects	 in	
collaboration	with	NSO,	Ministries,	
agencies	and	institutions.	
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Skills	for	the	Future	

SkillNet	 was	 originally	 launched	 in	
Cyprus	 in	 October	 2005,	 to	 explore	
the	 feasibility	 of	 a	 pan-European	 skill	
needs	forecasting	approach.	Since	then	
SkillsNet	has	worked	on	the	following:

•	 in	 the	 short	 term,	 exploring	 the	
development	 of	 a	 pan-European	
forecasting	framework,	using	data	
available	 for	 all	 Member	 States	
and	common	models;

•	 in	 the	 longer	 term	 involving	 all	
European	 countries	 with	 the	 aim	
of	 harmonising	 and	 matching	
sources	 and	 methods	 used	 at	
individual	 country	 level,	 creating	
a	new	core	forecasting	system	for	
use	by	all	European	countries.

Preliminary	 results	 demonstrating	

the	 feasibility	 of	 producing	 a	 regular	
and	 consistent	 set	 of	 pan-European	
projections	 were	 published	 at	
Cedefop’s	 Agora	 conference	 “Skills	
for	 Europe’s	 future”	 in	 Thessaloniki	
in	 February	 2008.	 This	 was	
complemented	 in	 2008	 by	 a	 second	
study	undertaken	by	 the	 same	 team,	
entitled	 “Medium-term	 forecast	 of	
skills	supply	in	Europe”.	

The	main	objective	of	this	project	was	
to	develop	data	 sources,	models	 and	
methods	 for	 conducting	 forecasts	 of	
the	supply	of	skills	at	a	pan-European	
level,	 based	 on	 available	 data,	 and	
to	 begin	 to	 explore	 how	 these	
compared	with	the	previous	demand	
projections.	The	results	of	this	project	
were	 announced	 at	 Cedefop’s	 June	

2009	Agora	event	“Matching	skills	and	
jobs:	anticipating	needs	in	challenging	
times”.

The	new	project	 is	 intended	 to	build	
on	these	foundations	and	to	develop	
a	 robust	 system	 for	 projecting	
both	 skills	 demand	 and	 supply	 at	 a	
pan-European	 level	 and	 to	 explore	
the	 implications	 of	 these	 for	 skill	
imbalances	 and	 mismatches.	 The	
workshop	 held	 in	 Malta	 provided	
an	 opportunity	 for	 national	 experts	
to	 present	 an	 overview	 of	 the	 work	
conducted	 this	 year	 to	 present	 initial	
demand	 and	 supply	 projections	 and	
their	 implications	 for	 imbalances	
and	mismatches,	 and	 to	 discuss	 new	
methodological	 developments	 and	
the	work	programme	for	2010-2011.

NCHe hosted the SkillsNet meeting in October 2009, which brought experts across the eu together 
to review economic models for anticipating skills requirements at an eu level. SkillsNet is one of the 
workgroups within CeDefOP which NCHe has been following together with the employment and 
Training Corporation (eTC) as part of the follow up of the “Skills for the future” Conference held 
in 2008.

Since then, eTC and NCHe have been collaborating more intensively to assist CeDefOP in 
identifying the right data sources and information about Malta in relation to skills supply and 
demand projections. NCHe on its part is also working to identify best practices of other countries to 
develop research on skills anticipation for Malta in the coming years.

participants of the skillsNet meeting held in october 2009 and hosted by the NChe.
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Student	Affairs

Research and Information 
Dissemination on Funding 
Schemes

In	 2009	 the	 NCHE	 undertook	 the	
initiative	 to	 compile	 comprehensive	
information	 on	 all	 available	 funding	
schemes	for	Maltese	wishing	to	follow	
programmes	 in	 Further	 and	 Higher	
Education	both	in	Malta	and	abroad.	

This	 information	 was	 published	 in	 a	
“Guide	 to	Financial	Support	Schemes	
for	 Maltese	 Students	 in	 Further	 and	
Higher	Education”	in	September	2009.

Ms.	 Christine	 Scholz,	 NCHE	 Officer	
responsible	 for	 student	 affairs,	
presented	 the	 guide	 to	 the	 President	
of	KSU,	Mr.Carl	Grech,				during	Freshers’	
Week	at	the	University	of	Malta.	

Copies	 of	 the	 report	 were	 also	
distributed	 at	MCAST	 and	 ITS	 as	well	
as	 during	 the	 Careers	 Convention	 at	
Junior	College.	

All	 this	 information	 has	 also	 been	
made	available	on	the	NCHE	website,	
which	now	contains	a	complete	list	of	
all	 funding	 schemes	 for	Maltese	with	
the	latest	regulations	as	well	as	links	to	
further	information.

The	guide	maps	 all	 available	 student	
support	 schemes	 to	 the	 level	 of	
qualifications	 base	 on	 the	 Malta	
Qualifications	 Framework,	 to	 the	
portability	 of	 grants	 from	 public	 to	
private	 sector	 providers,	 and	 also	
portability	 of	 grants	 for	 students	
following	studies	in	foreign	education	
institutions.

The	 guide	 was	 also	 based	 on	 the	
review	 of	 existing	 funding	 schemes	
carried	 out	 during	 February	 2009.	
It	 also	 took	 into	 consideration	 the	
implementation	 of	 the	 two	 major	
government	 scholarship	 schemes,	
namely	 the	 Malta	 Government	
Scholarship	 Scheme	 (MGSS)	 and	
the	 Strategic	 Educational	 Pathways	
Scholarship	(STEPS),	the	latter	of	which	
was	awarded	for	the	first	time	in	2009.

NCHE	 shall	 continue	 to	 update	 this	
guide	 and	 provide	 consolidated	
information	 of	 the	 different	 schemes	
available,	 to	 assist	 students	 in	 their	
quest	 to	 access	 further	 and	 higher	
education.	

NCHE on Campus during 
Freshers’ Week
NCHE	 participated	 in	 this	 years’	

Freshers’	 Week	 at	 the	 University	
of	 Malta	 and	 provided	 first	 year	
students	with	 information	on	current	
developments	 in	 Further	 and	 Higher	
Education.	

Students	could	pick	up	the	latest	NCHE	
publication	 on	 funding	 schemes	 or	
other	NCHE	publications	and	also	get	
individual	advice	on	financial	support	
schemes	 or	 possibilities	 to	 study	
abroad.	

NCHE	 also	 took	 part	 in	 several	 panel	
discussions	 on	 the	 importance	 of	
research	or	the	role	of	humanities.

NCHE	also	invited	other	agencies,	such	
as	 the	Malta	Qualifications	Council	 to	
create	 awareness	 on	 the	 process	 of	
recognition	of	qualifications,	as	well	as	
the	Directorate	for	Lifelong	Learning	to	
disseminate	 information	on	the	MGSS	
and	STEPS	Scholarships	schemes.

NCHE	 also	 set	 up	 its	 stands	 and	
distributed	 its	publications	 at	MCAST	
and	 ITS	 outlining	 its	 main	 areas	 of	
work,	 namely	 increasing	 access,	
improving	 the	 quality	 of	 Further	 and	
Higher	Education,	promoting	mobility	
of	 students	 and	 staff	 and	 providing	
students	with	skills	for	the	future.	

the financial support scheme guidebook 
published by the NChe 

NChe officers at the 2009 university of malta 
fresher’s Week 

prime minister lawrence gonzi, mrs gonzi and NChe Ceo, Jacques 
sciberras discussing the NChe’s services at fresher’s Week. 
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Visits	by	the	Prime	Minister,	the	Minister	
for	Education	and	the	Rector	amongst	
others	 gave	 NCHE	 the	 chance	 to	
present	its	most	recent	publications.	

The	 presence	 of	 NCHE	 during	 these	
activities	creates	space	for	encounters	
to	 inform	 students	 and	 the	 public	 at	
large	 on	 its	work	 and	 to	 disseminate	
its	publications.

NCHE Collaboration on 
Career Guidance in Schools
The	 availability	 of	 adequate	
information	 on	 further	 and	 higher	
education	 to	 students	 in	 schools,	
and	 for	 career	 guidance	 teachers,	 are	
considered	 very	 important	 tools	 to	
attract	more	students	to	continue	their	
studies	after	compulsory	education.	

Bearing	this	in	mind	NCHE	developed	
a	 bilingual	 Maltese	 and	 English	
“Student	Guide	for	Further	and	Higher	
Education	in	Malta”,	during	summer	of	
2009.	

The	publication	will	be	distributed	to	
all	students	in	5th	Form	and	6th	Form	
of	 all	 schools	 in	 Malta	 and	 Gozo	 in	
January	2010.	

The	 guide	 outlines	 the	 Maltese	
Education	 System	 and	 the	 different	
Institutions	 that	 students	 may	 wish	
to	 contact,	 with	 all	 the	 contact	 and	
web	 link	 information	 necessary	 for	
students	 to	 continue	 searching	 and	
discovering	their	options.

The	 guide	 also	 contains	 information	
on	 funding	 schemes	 and	
opportunities	to	study	abroad,	as	well	
as	 a	 checklist	 of	 things	 to	 consider	
when	 making	 such	 an	 important	
choice	in	their	life.	

The	 information	 contained	 in	 the	
guide	is	also	available	on	the	website	
of	the	NCHE.

This	 project,	 is	 being	 carried	 out	 in	
close	 collaboration	 with	 the	 Student	
Services	Department	of		the	Directorate	
for	 Educational	 Services	 (DES),	 within	
the	 Ministry	 of	 Education.	 This	
Department	has	not	only	facilitated	the	
distribution	of	the	guide	in	all	schools,	
but	 is	 ensuring	 that	 Career	 Guidance	
teachers	 can	use	 this	guide	as	 a	basis	
for	 explaining	 the	 possible	 pathways	
into	 further	 and	 higher	 education	 to	
students	in	schools.

NCHE	is	developing	an	ESF	application	
to	 fund	 the	 annual	 development	 of	
the	student	guide	and	other	guidance	
tools	and	information,	for	the	coming	
three	years,	to	develop	different	media	
channels	 to	 inform	 students	 about	
potential	career	prospects.

Cooperation with Student 
Representatives
Throughout	 2009	 NCHE	 has	
maintained	 close	 links	 with	 student	
representatives	 in	Malta	as	well	as	on	
international	 level.	 NCHE	 was	 invited	
to	 participate,	 facilitate	 and	 report	
on	 a	 number	 of	 events	 of	 OBESSU	
–	 the	 European	 School	 Students	
Organisation	and	ESU	–	The	European	
Students’	Union.	In	Malta	NCHE	invited	
student	 representatives	 from	 the	
University	of	Malta,	MCAST	and	ITS	to	
give	their	input	at	NCHE	conferences	as	
well	as	attended	events	organised	by	
these	 student	 representative	 bodies,	
such	as	the	KSU	seminar	of	the	Social	
Policy	 and	 Education	 Commission.	
Through	 these	 activities	 NCHE	 has	
managed	 to	 develop	 a	 relationship	
based	on	mutual	respect	and	an	open	
communication	 between	 students	
and	 the	NCHE	 and	provided	 support	
and	information	when	needed.

a bilingual maltese and english, student guide for further and higher education in malta
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Student	Support	Schemes

The	 MGSS	 Undergraduate	 scheme	
supports	 students	 following	 degree	
level	courses	attending	local	or	foreign	
private	universities	with	a	scholarship	
equivalent	 to	 the	 financial	 support	
received	 by	 students	 under	 the	
Student	 Maintenance	 Grant	 Scheme	
attending	 the	 University	 of	 Malta.	
In	 2009,	 the	 scheme	 was	 revised,	
removing	 the	 age	 limitation	 so	 that	
students	 over	 30	 years	 of	 age	 may	
also	 apply,	 and	 opening	 the	 scheme	
to	 all	 those	 students	 who	 have	
already	enrolled	 in	an	undergraduate	
programme	but	not	 yet	 received	 the	
scholarship.	

The	 MGSS	 Postgraduate	 and	 STEPS	
schemes	 were	 also	 opened	 in	 2009	
to	applicants	enrolled	 in	part-time	or	
distance	education	programmes.	

During	 2009	 the	 following	 awards	
where	given	under	different	schemes:

•	 MGSS	 Undergraduate	 scheme	
awarded	 112	 scholarships	 for	
students	 pursuing	 degrees	
in	 private	 or	 foreign	 higher	
education	institutions;	

•	 MGSS	 Postgraduate	 scheme	
awarded	 47	 scholarships	
(15	 Masters	 and	 32	 Doctoral	
scholarships);

•	 STEPS	 scheme	 awarded	 180	
scholarships	 (143	 Masters	 and	 37	
Doctoral	 scholarships).	 Of	 these	
awards,	79	scholarships	supported	
science	 and	 technology	 related	
research.

The	 figures	 show	 the	 increasing	
interest	 in	 the	 schemes	 and	
consequently	the	success	of	efforts	to	
attract	students	into	relevant	areas	to	
Malta’s	 economic,	 cultural	 and	 social	
development	as	well	 as	 into	 research	
careers.

To	increase	the	visibility	of	the	work	of	
MGSS	 and	 STEPS	 students,	 the	NCHE	
has	 embarked	 on	 the	 creation	 of	 an	
online	 platform	 to	 provide	 Alumni	
with	 a	 focused	 social	 networking	
environment	 for	 them	 to	 exchange	
with	other	peer	 scholars	 in	 the	 same	
field	 of	 study,	 or	 to	 collaborate	 on	
multi	disciplinary	projects.

In	 addition	 the	 website	 acts	 as	
a	 showcase	 on	 current	 research	
projects	 for	 potential	 investors	 and	
business	collaborators	or	parents	and	
prospective	students.	

The	 success	 of	 the	 Scholarship	
schemes	 depends	 on	 the	 ability	
to	 attract	 Maltese	 scholars	 back	 to	
Malta	on	completion	of	 their	 studies,	
but	 also	 to	 leave	 a	 mark	 on	 Maltese	
students	and	parents	on	the	potential	
benefits	 of	 postgraduate	 studies	 and	
the	 respective	 return	 on	 investment	
in	education.	Highlighting	the	type	of	
specialist	skills	acquired	by	successful	
scholars	is	also	crucial	for	business	and	
investors	 who	 are	 seeking	 to	 recruit	
specialised	professionals.	NCHE	is	now	
developing	the	necessary	tools	for	all	
these	 stakeholders	 to	 communicate,	
network	and	exploit	the	outcomes	of	
this	 long-term	 investment	 in	Maltese	
students.	

The Malta Government Scholarship Scheme (MGSS) and the Strategic educational Pathways 
Scholarship Scheme (STePS) continued to support students with scholarships for postgraduate 
studies at a Masters and Doctoral level in 2009.
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Advocacy	

During the year, the NCHe accepts requests by various stakeholders, to present focused papers on 
specific dimensions of the further and higher education sector. Members of the public also request 
meetings with the NCHe, either to seek information on various subjects, to raise specific issues and 
seek advice, or to formally present their current or future activities in the sector. 

Presentations on key policy 
issues in different local fora

During	 the	 year,	 the	NCHE	made	 the	
following	key	presentations:

•	 Visit of EU Commissioner Jan 
Figel (February, 2009) Meeting 
was focused on the promotion of 
University-Business co-operation 
between stakeholders from business, 
education and culture related sectors; 

•	 Training Seminar, Bologna 
Experts Group (BEG) (March, 2009) 
Presentation to BEG entitled “The 
key challenges of the Bologna 
Process & the implications for 
Higher Education in Malta”. 

•	 MEUSAC Core Group Presentation on 
COM 828 (March, 2009) Presentation 
to core group members entitled 
“Skills for the Future” highlighting 
the findings of the NCHE report 
on skills related to Malta, and on 
identified skills gaps at a European 
level as reported by CEDEFOP. 

•	 Careers Convention (April, 2009) 
Presentation to students and parents 
attending the Convention entitled 
“Skills for the Future” highlighting 
potential growing markets 
and career pathways through 
different education institutions. 

•	 General Annual Conference of 
the Malta Employers Association 
(MEA) (May, 2009) Presentation to 
employers in the business sector 
on “Matching Education with the 
needs of a changing economy”. 

•	 MEUSAC Presentation on COM (2009) 
158 (June, 2009) Presentation to 
the public on EU Communication 
on “A new partnership for the 
modernisation of Universities: the 
EU Forum for University Business 
Dialogue COM (2009) 158 “. 

•	 Kunsill Studenti Universitarji (KSU) 
(August, 2009) Presentation to 
University students and the Kunsill 
Politika Socjali (KPS) on “Student 
Involvement in Quality Assurance”.

•	 GWU Youths Conference  
(November, 2009) Presentation	 to	
participants	 entitled	 “Further	 and	
Higher	Education	Quality	Assurance	
and	 Recognition”	 highlighting	
the	 current	 regulatory	 framework	
for	 qualifications	 recognition	 and	
the	 link	 to	 necessary	 reforms	 for	
quality	assurance	and	accreditation	
on	 qualifications	 in	 Malta.	

•	 The Creativity & Innovation Citizens’ 
Forum by MCST/EU Parliament 
office in Malta (October, 2009) 
Speech	 and	 discussion	 on	
“Creative	 Malta:	 Developing	 a	
National	 Pro-innovation	 Culture”	
highlighting	specific	issues	related	
to	research	and	higher	education.
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Advocacy	(cont.)

Visit to the  President of 
Malta

His	 Excellency	 the	 President	 George	
Abela,	 received	 a	 courtesy	 visit	 by	
members	of	the	National	Commission	
for	 Higher	 Education	 (NCHE)	 on	 the	
25th	 of	 May	 2009	 at	 the	 Palace	 in	
Valletta.	

Dr.	Philip	von	Brockdorff,	Chairman	of	
the	 NCHE,	 outlined	 the	 current	work	
of	 the	 commission	 and	 its	 efforts	 to	
promote	 more	 and	 better	 further	
and	 higher	 education	 in	 Malta.	 He	
presented	a	copy	of	the	recommended	
Strategy	 2020	 for	 Further	 and	Higher	
Education	and	outlined	the	important	
role	of	further	and	higher	education	in	
the	 development	 of	 Malta’s	 cultural,	
economic	and	social	development.

Other	 members	 present	 included		
Dr.	 Grace	 Grima,	 Dr.	 Anna	 Mifsud	
Bonnici,	Mr.	Alex	Manche	and	the	CEO	
of	the	NCHE	Mr.	Jacques	Sciberras.

The	 President	 thanked	 all	 the	
members	 of	 the	 NCHE	 for	 their	 visit	
and	re-iterated	the	importance	of	the	
NCHE’s	 work	 in	 undertaking	 research	
and	consultations	with	all	stakeholders	
in	 the	 sector	 to	 develop	 a	 common	
vision	 of	 the	 way	 forward.	 Education	
remains	 the	 key	 towards	 personal	
development	and	fulfilment	and	is	the	
foundation	of	Malta’s	future.

Courtesy visit by members of the National Commission for higher education to his excellency, the president george abela
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International	Presence	of	the	NCHE

January 2009
•	 Erasmus	Mundus	Committee	Meeting	(Brussels,	Belgium)
•	 5th	CREST	Meeting	–	“Mutual learning on approaches to improve the excellence of research in universities”	(Brussels,	Belgium)
•	 EUA	-	2nd	QA	Site	visit	under	IEP	of	Gutenburg	University	(Germany)

February 2009

•	 The	2nd	European	University	Business	Forum	(Brussels,	Belgium)
•	 Bologna	Process	Follow	Up	Group	Meeting	(Prague,	Czech	Republic)
•	 University Classification Seminar held	under	the	auspices	of	the	Czech	Presidency	of	the	EU	(Prague,	Czech	Republic)
•	 Erasmus	Mundus	II	Launch	Seminar	(Brussels,	Belgium)
•	 Erasmus	Mundus	Project	Coordinators	Meeting	(Brussels,	Belgium)
•	 Launch	of	the	new	premises	of	the	European	Quality	Assurance	Register	(EQAR)	(Brussels,	Belgium)

March 2009
•	 6th	CREST	Meeting	–	“Mutual learning on approaches to improve the excellence of research in universities” (Brussels,	Belgium)
•	 Council	of	Europe	Steering	Committee	on	Higher	Education	(CDESR)	Plenary	Session	(Strasbourg,	France)
•	 CEDEFOP	 -	 Agora	 Conference	 Continuity, Consolidation and Change towards a European Era of Vocational Education and 

Training (Thessaloniki,	Grecce)
•	 Bologna	Process	Follow	Up	Group	Meeting	(Prague,	Czech	Republic)
•	 EQAR	General	Assembly	(Prague,	Czech	Republic)

April 2009

•	 European	Students’	Union	Conference	on	the Future of the Bologna Process and	56th	Board	Meeting	(Brussels,	Belgium)
•	 Formal	Meeting	of	Erasmus	Mundus	National	Structures	(Brussels,	Belgium)
•	 Bologna	Process	Follow	Up	Group	Meeting	(Leuven,	Belgium)

bologna process ministerial summit 2009
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International	Presence	of	the	NCHE	(cont.)

April 2009 (continued)

•	 Bologna	Process	Ministerial	Summit	2009	(Leuven	&	Louvain-la-Neuve,	Belgium)
•	 European	Parliament	Debate	on	Future of Higher Education in Europe	(Brussels,	Belgium)

May 2009

•	 ANOSR	Conference	on	Financing Higher Education	(Sinaia,	Romania)
•	 Informal	Meeting	of	Erasmus	Mundus	National	Structures	(Dublin,	Ireland)
•	 UNESCO	Forum on Higher Education in the Europe Region: Access, Values, Quality and Competitiveness	(Bucharest,	Romania)	

June 2009

•	 CEDEFOP	Forecasting skill supply and demand in Europe	(Thessaloniki,	Greece)
•	 CEDEFOP	Agora	Conference	Matching skills and jobs anticipating needs in challenging times	(Thessaloniki,	Greece)
•	 OECD	IMHE	Conference	Higher Education at a Time of Crisis Challenges & Opportunities	(Copenhagen,	Denmark)
•	 EU	Commission	Modernisation	of	Higher	Education	Cluster	Meeting	(Brussels,	Belgium)

July 2009

•	 IIEP	Policy	Forum	– Tertiary Education in Small States – Planning the Context of Globalisation	(Paris,	France)
•	 UNESCO	World Conference on Higher Education	(Paris,	France)
•	 Erasmus	Mundus	Committee	Meeting	(Brussels,	Belgium)

September 2009

•	 OECD	Conference	on	Tax Incentives for Education and Training	(Brussels,	Belgium)
•	 Bologna	Process	Follow	Up	Group	Meeting	(Stockholm,	Sweden)
•	 EQAR	General	Assembly	(Stockholm,	Sweden)
•	 21st	EAIE	Conference:	Connecting Continents (Madrid,	Spain)
•	 EuroStudent	Seminar:	Planning	and	executing	national	online	surveys	(Berlin,	Germany)

October 2009

•	 EU	Commission	Modernisation	of	Higher	Education	Cluster	Meeting	(Brussels,	Belgium)
•	 EU	Erasmus	Mundus	Committee	Meeting	(Brussels,	Belgium)
•	 EU	Director	Generals	of	Higher	Education	Meeting	(Kalmar,	Sweden)
•	 European	University	Business	Forum	(Dublin,	Ireland)
•	 EUA-CDE	Conference:	How	to	Assure	Quality	in	New-Style	Doctoral	Studies?	(Vienna,	Austria)
•	 CEDEFOP	Skills	Workshop	(Valletta,	Malta)

November 2009

•	 Bologna	Process	Follow	Up	Group	Meeting	(Brussels,	Belgium)
•	 OBESSU	and	ESU	70th Anniversary of the 17th November International Students’ Day	Conference	(Brussels,	Belgium)

December 2009 

•	 CHEPS	Conference on the Independent Assessment of the Bologna Process (Brussels,	Belgium)
•	 EU	Erasmus	Mundus,	National	Structures	Meeting	(Brussels,	Belgium)
•	 EuroStudent	Central	Server	Hosting	Meeting	(Vienna,	Austria)



Financial	Statements
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Financial	Statements

NATIONAL COMMISSION FOR HIGHER EDUCATION REPORT	AND	FINANCIAL	STATEMENTS
For	the	year	ended	31	December	2009

Report of the Commission

The	Commission	presents	the	report	and	the	audited	financial	statements	for	the	year	ended	31	December	2009.	

Principal Activity

The	National	Commission	for	Higher	Education	is	an	institution	established	under	the	Education	Act	Cap	327.		

The	Commission	is	governed	by	a	Chairman,	a	Deputy	Chairman	and	five	members	as	appointed	by	the	Prime	Minister	on	the	
3rd	November	2008	for	a	period	of	three	years	as	follows:

	 Dr.	Philip	von	Brockdorff	–	Chairman	
		 Mr.	Alexander	Manché	–	Deputy	Chairman	
	 Prof.	Josef	Bonnici
	 Prof.	John	Portelli
	 Dr.	Grace	Grima
	 Dr.	Jennifer	Cassingena	Harper
	 Dr.	Anna	Mifsud	Bonnici

The	 Commission	 is	 entrusted	 with	 the	 furtherance	 and	 expansion	 of	 higher	 education	 to	meet	 education	 requirements	
adopted	by	the	Government.	
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Responsibilities of the Commission

The	Commission	is	responsible	amongst	others	to	prepare	an	annual	report	on	the	work	of	the	Commission	during	the	
preceding	year.		This	entails	responsibility	to	ensure	that:	

	 a.	 	Proper	accounting	records	are	kept	of	all	transactions	entered	into	by	the	Commission	and	of	its	assets	and	
liabilities;

	 b.	 	Adequate	controls	and	procedures	are	in	place	for	safeguarding	the	assets	of		the	Commission,	and	the	
prevention	and	detection	of	fraud	and	other	irregularities.

In	preparing	the	financial	statements	which	give	a	true	and	fair	view	of	the	state	of	affairs	as	at	the	end	of	each	financial	
year	and	of	its	surplus	or	deficit	for	that	year,	the	Commission:	

	 -	 selects	suitable	accounting	policies	and	then	apply	them	consistently;
	 -	 makes	judgements	and	estimates	that	are	reasonable	and	prudent;
	 -	 follows	International	Financial	Reporting	Standards;
	 -	 prepares	the	financial	statements	on	the	going	concern	basis	unless	this	is	considered	inappropriate.

Results

The	results	for	the	year	under	review	show	a	deficit	of	€	(15,372)	(2008	–	surplus	of	€	19,647).

Dr Philip von Brockdorff  Mr Alexander Manché
Chairman  Deputy Chairman

25	January	2010
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Financial	Statements

Auditor’s report to the Commission

I	have	audited	the	accompanying	financial	statements	on	pages	39	to	46.	These	financial	statements	are	the	responsibility	of	
the	Commission.	My	responsibility	is	to	express	an	opinion	on	these	financial	statements	based	on	my	audit.	

I	conducted	my	audit	in	accordance	with	International	Standards	on	Auditing.	These	Standards	require	that	I	plan	and	perform	
the	audit	to	obtain	reasonable	assurance	about	whether	the	financial	statements	are	free	of	material	misstatement.	An	audit	
includes	examining,	on	a	test	basis,	evidence	supporting	the	amounts	and	disclosures	 in	the	financial	statements.	An	audit	
includes	assessing	the	accounting	principles	used	and	significant	estimates	made	by	the	Commission,	as	well	as	evaluating	the	
overall	financial	statements	presentation.	I	believe	that	my	audit	provides	a	reasonable	basis	for	my	opinion.	

In	my	opinion,	the	financial	statements	give	a	true	and	fair	view	of	the	state	of	affairs	of	the	Commission	as	at	31	December	
2009	and	of	its	deficit,	changes	in	net	assets/equity	and	cash	flows	for	the	year	then	ended	in	accordance	with	Education	Act,	
Cap	327.	

Arthur Douglas Turner 
B.A. (Hons.) Acctcy., F.C.C.A., F.I.A., A.M.I.T., C.P.A.
Chartered Public Accountant and Registered Auditor

Turner	&	Associates
13,	Curate	Fenech	Street	
Birzebbugia
Malta

26	January	2010
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Income and Expenditure Account
For	the	year	ended	31	December	2009

	 	 2009	 2008
	 Notes	 €	 €	
	 	 	
INCOME   
Government	Contribution	 1	 276,617	 256,274
Government	Contribution	in	relation	to	Capital		 	 	
Expenditure			 	 					17,985	 				13,172
	 	 294,602	 269,446
EXPENDITURE   
Administrative	and	Other	Expenses		 	 (309,974)	 (249,799)

(DEFICIT) / SURPLUS FOR THE YEAR  	 2	 			(15,372)	 			19,647
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Financial	Statements

Balance Sheet
At	31	December	2009

	 	 2009	 2008
ASSETS		 Notes	 €	 €	
Non-Current Assets 	 	 	
Tangible	assets			 3	 56,628	 54,924

Current Assets	 														
Trade	and	other	receivables		 4	 							3,500	 				30,217
Cash	at	bank	and	in	hand		 	 							2,554	 						6,948
	 	 							6,054	 					37,165

Current Liabilities 	 	 	
Trade	and	other	payables		 5	 					(23,118)	 				(17,738)

Total Assets less Current Liabilities  	 	 					39,564	 					74,351
	 	 	
Non-Current Liabilities 	 	 	
Trade	and	other	payables		 6	 			(38,643)	 				(58,058)
Total Net Assets 	 	 				 								921	 					16,293

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 	 	 	
Equity		 	 	
Accumulated	surplus		 7	 									921	 					16,293

The	financial	statements	on	pages	39	to	46	were	approved	by	the	Commission	on	25	January	2010,	and	signed	on	its	behalf	by:	

Dr	Philip	von	Brockdorff		 Mr	Alexander	Manché			
Chairman	 Deputy	Chairman		
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Cash Flow Statement
For	the	year	ended	31	December	2009

	 	 2009	 2008
	 Notes	 €	 €	
	 	 	
CASH FLOW USED IN OPERATING ACTIVITIES	 	 	
(Deficit)	/	surplus	for	the	year		 	 (15,372)	 19,647
Add:	Depreciation		 	 17,985	 13,172
Less:	Government	Contribution	in	relation	to	Capital		 	 	
Expenditure	transferred	to	Income	and	Expenditure		 	 	
Account	 	 (17,985)	 (13,172)

Deficit	/	surplus	from	operating	activities			 	 						(15,372)	 						19,647
Decrease	/	(increase)	in	debtors		 	 10,411	 (30,052)
Increase	in	creditors		 	 567	 1,033

NET CASH FLOW (IN) OPERATING ACTIVITIES	 	 								(4,394)	 							(9,372)

INVESTING ACTIVITIES 	 	 	
Payments	to	acquire	tangible	assets			 8	(a)		 								(3,383)	 							(7,420)

FINANCING ACTIVITIES	 	 	
Proceeds	from	Government	Contribution	in	relation	 	 	
to	Capital	Assets	 8	(a)	 									3,383		 						23,726	

	 	 	
NET MOVEMENT IN CASH AND CASH    
EQUIVALENTS	 	 (4,394)	 6,934
Cash	and	cash	equivalents	at	beginning	of	year	 	 6,948	 14

Cash	and	cash	equivalents	at	end	of	year	 8	(b)	 									2,554		 								6,948	
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Financial	Statements

Notes to the Financial Statements
For	the	year	ended	31	December	2009

1. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(a) Basis of accounting

The	 accounts	 are	prepared	under	 the	historical	 cost	 convention	 and	 in	 accordance	with	 International	 Financial	 Reporting	
Standards.

The	particular	accounting	policies	which	have	been	applied	consistently	are	described	below:

(b)	Tangible fixed assets

Tangible	fixed	assets	are	stated	at	cost	less	accumulated	depreciation.		

Depreciation	is	charged	so	as	to	write	off	the	cost	of	assets	over	the	estimated	useful	 lives,	using	the	straight	 line	method,		
on	the	following	bases:

	 	 %
	 Office	equipment		 10
	 Furniture	and	fittings		 10
	 Air-conditioning		 16.67	 	 	
	 Motor	vehicles	 20
	 Website	and	Information	Tool	 25
	 Computer	equipment		 25

(c)	Impairment

At	each	balance	sheet	date,	 the	Commission	reviews	the	carrying	amounts	of	 its	assets	 to	determine	whether	 there	 is	any	
indication	that	those	assets	have	suffered	an	impairment	loss.	If	any	such	indication	exists,	the	recoverable	amount	of	the	asset	
is	estimated	in	order	to	determine	the	extent	of	the	impairment	loss	(if	any).

If	 the	recoverable	amount	of	an	asset	 is	estimated	to	be	 less	than	 its	carrying	amount,	 the	carrying	amount	of	 the	asset	 is	
reduced	 to	 its	 recoverable	 amount.	 Impairment	 losses	 are	 recognized	 as	 an	 expense	 immediately.	 	Where	 an	 impairment	
loss	subsequently	reverses,	the	carrying	amount	of	the	asset	is	increased	to	the	revised	estimate	of	its	recoverable	amount,	
but	 so	 that	 the	 increased	 carrying	 amount	does	not	 exceed	 the	 carrying	 amount	 that	would	have	been	determined	had	
no	 impairment	 loss	been	recognized	for	the	asset	 in	prior	years.	 	A	reversal	of	an	 impairment	 loss	 is	 recognized	as	 income	
immediately.	
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1. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Trade and other debtors 

Trade	and	other	debtors	are	stated	at	their	nominal	value	as	reduced	by	appropriate	allowances	for	estimated	irrecoverable	
amounts.	

Trade and other creditors

Trade	and	other	creditors	are	stated	at	their	nominal	value.	

(d)	Revenue recognition 

Government	contributions	are	recognized	as	income	when	received.	

Government	 contribution	 represents	 amounts	 received	 in	 terms	of	 recurrent	 and	capital	 votes.	 	Government	 contribution	
received	in	respect	of	expenditure	charged	to	the	income	and	expenditure	account	during	the	year	has	been	included	in	the	
income	and	expenditure	account.	The	remainders,	which	are	spent	for	the	acquisition	for	tangible	assets,	are	deferred	and	are	
included	in	the	income	and	expenditure	account	by	installments	over	the	expected	useful	lives	of	the	related	assets.	

2. (DEFICIT) / SURPLUS FOR THE YEAR
	 	 2009	 2008
(Deficit) / Surplus for the year is stated after charging: 	 €	 €
Audit	fees		 	 1,020	 865
Depreciation	on	tangible	fixed	assets			 	 17,985	 13,172
Staff	costs		 	 		154,541	 		160,481

(Deficit) / Surplus for the year is stated after crediting:  
Government	Contribution	in	relation	to	Capital	Assets	 	
transferred	to	Income	and	Expenditure	Account			 	 				17,985	 				13,172
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Financial	Statements

Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
For	the	year	ended	31	December	2009

3.  TANGIBLE FIXED ASSETS

	 Office		 	 Air-	 	 	 Website	&		
	 and	kitchen		 Furniture	&			 conditioning	 Motor		 Computer		 Information		
	 Equipment		 Fixtures		 Equipment		 Vehicle		 Equipment		 Tool	 Total	
	 €		 €	 €		 €	 €		 €			 	€	
Cost       
At		01	January	2009	 6,287	 28,651	 13,020	 		12,229	 		20,252	 -	 		80,439
Additions		 -	 727	 -	 -	 156	 18,806	 19,689

At	31	December	2009	 			6,287	 	29,378	 		13,020	 		12,229	 	20,408	 	18,806	 		100,128

Depreciation       
At	01	January	2009	 971	 5,332	 4,338	 		4,892		 		9,982	 -	 		25,515
Charge	for	the	year	 629	 2,938	 2,169	 2,446	 5,102	 4,701	 17,985

At	31	December	2009	 			1,600	 		8,270	 			6,507	 			7,338		 		15,084	 			4,701	 			43,500
	 	 	 	 	 	 	
Net book value       
At	31	December	2009	 4,687	 	21,108	 	6,513	 	4,891	 	5,324	 	14,105	 	56,628

At	31	December	2008		 				5,316	 	23,319	 				8,682	 			7,337	 	10,270	 										-	 			54,924
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4.  TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 
	 	 2009	 2008
	 	 €	 €	
	 	
Payments	on	account	–	Construction	of	NCHE	Website	(note)	 	 -	 16,306
Prepayments	and	accrued	income		 	 3,500	 13,911

	 	 				3,500	 		30,217
	 	
Note: 
This represents the payment on account on the construction of new content management web-site which will be launched by NCHE 
during 2009.

5. CURRENT LIABILITIES 
	 	 2009	 2008
	 	 €	 €
	 	 	
Trade	and	other	creditors	 	 -	 43
Deferred	Government	Contribution	for	Capital		 	
Expenditure	(note	6)	 	 17,985	 13,172
Accruals	 	 5,133	 4,523

	 	 			23,118	 			17,738

	 	
6.  NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES 
	 	 2009	 2008
	 	 €	 €	
	 	
Deferred	Government	Contribution	for	Capital	 	
Expenditure	 	 56,628	 71,230
Less:		Amounts	to	be	transferred	to	Income	and	 	
Expenditure	Account	within	one	year	(note	5)		 	 (17,985)	 (13,172)

	 	 				38,643	 			58,058
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Financial	Statements

Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
For	the	year	ended	31	December	2009

7. ACCUMULATED SURPLUS  
	 	 2009	 2008
	 	 €	 €
	 	
At	1	January		 	 16,293	 (3,354)
(Deficit)	/	Surplus	for	the	year		 	 (15,372)	 19,647

At	31	December	 	 										921	 						16,293

	 	

8.  NOTES TO THE CASH FLOW STATEMENT

(a) Tangible fixed assets 

During	 the	 year,	 the	 Commission	 acquired	 furniture,	 office	 equipment	 and	 website	 and	 information	 systems	 with	 an	
aggregate	cost	of	€	19,689.	€	16,306	had	been	prepaid	in	2008,	and	thus	net	proceeds	effected	during	the	year	amounted	to	
€	3,383.		Furthermore,	€	3,383	have	been	reclassified	from	recurrent	income	to	Deferred	Government	Contribution	for	Capital	
Expenditure.	

(b)  Cash and cash equivalents

Cash	and	cash	equivalents	consists	of	cash	in	hand	and	balances	with	bank.		A	cash	flow	is	an	increase	or	decrease	in	amount	of	
cash	or	cash	equivalents	resulting	from	a	transaction.		The	net	cash	flow	movement	is	reflected	in	the	balance	sheet	as	follows:

	 	 2009	 2008
			 	
Cash	at	bank	and	in	hand		 	 		€	2,554	 		€	6,948

	 	

9. COMPARATIVE FIGURES 

Comparative	figures	in	the	financial	statements	have	been	amended	to	comply	with	current	year’s	presentation	of	balances.	
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Income and Expenditure Account
For	the	year	ended	31	December	2009
	 2009	 2008
	 €	 €
INCOME   
Government	Contribution		 276,617	 256,274
Government	Contribution	in	relation	to	Capital	 	
Expenditure	 17,985	 13,172

	 		294,602	 		269,446

	 	
ADMINISTRATIVE AND OTHER EXPENSES   
Accountancy	fees		 1,666	 2,296
Advertising	 3,943	 4,677
Audit	fees		 1,020	 865
Bank	charges		 285	 194
Board	Honoraria		 23,367	 -
Depreciation		 17,985	 13,172
Driver’s	expenses		 1,365	 2,231
Events	materials	printing	and	design		 2,588	 -
Hire	of	stands	 2,130	 -
Leasing	of	equipment	 -	 412
Local	meetings	and	conferences		 15,231	 9,906
Memberships		 8,400	 2,500
Motor	vehicle	expenses		 669	 688
Office	stationery		 3,036	 2,781
Professional	fees		 391	 206
Public	relations		 3,298	 6,574
Publications	 23,602	 9,702
Repairs	and	servicing	 1,284	 1,397
Subscriptions		 986	 980
Sundry	expenses		 935	 650
Staff	training	 162	 -
Telecommunications		 3,045	 2,930
Travelling	–	Board	Members	to	Malta		 6,668	 4,884
Travelling	–	Conferences	and	Initiatives		 32,903	 22,185
Wages		 154,541	 160,481
Website	costs	 474	 88

	 			309,974	 				249,799

(DEFICIT) / SURPLUS FOR THE YEAR 	 				(15,372)	 					19,647
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